

Department of Pathology Haartman Institute University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Central Hospital

### **PROGRESSION OF DIFFUSE GLIOMAS**

### FROM THE FIRST DIAGNOSIS TO RECURRENCE

**Olli Tynninen** 

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in lecture hall 1 of the Haartman Institute, Haartmaninkatu 3, Helsinki, on 30 September 2011, at 12 o'clock noon.

#### Supervisors

Professor Timo Paavonen Department of Pathology University of Tampere Finland

Docent Anders Paetau Department of Pathology Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Finland

#### Reviewers

Professor Heikki Minn Turku PET Centre and Department of Oncology and Radiotherapy University of Turku Finland

Professor Sverre Mørk The Gade Institute University of Bergen Norway

#### Opponent

Professor Veli-Matti Kosma Institute of Clinical Medicine, Pathology and Forensic Medicine University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland

ISBN 978-952-10-7146-1 (Paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-7147-8 (PDF)

Helsinki University Print Helsinki 2011

To my family

## CONTENTS

Contents	4
List of original publications	7
Abbreviations	8
Abstract	10
Introduction	11
Review of the literature	12
Pathobiology of glial cells	12
Astrocytes	12
Oligodendrocytes	13
Ependyma	14
Gliomas	14
Origin of gliomas	14
Epidemiology	15
Classification	16
Grading	16
Histopathology of diffuse gliomas	18
Diffuse astrocytoma	18
Anaplastic astrocytoma	18
Glioblastoma	18
Oligodendroglioma	20
Anaplastic oligodendroglioma	20
Oligoastrocytoma and anaplastic oligoastrocytoma	20
Histological types and survival	21
Molecular pathogenesis of gliomas	21
Natural course of diffuse gliomas	21
Oncogenes	22
ĔGFR	22
KIT, PDGFRA and VEGFR2	23
Tumour suppressor genes	24
p53	24
PTEN and Rb1	24
1p and 19q deletions	25
MGMT	
IDH1	27
Markers of tumour cell differentiation and phenotype	
Intermediate filaments	
Other markers of differentiation	29
Molecules linked to glioma progression	29
Actin and ERM proteins	29
COX-2	
HuR	
Mechanisms of glioma invasion	
0	

Tumour cell proliferation	31
Mitotic activity	
KI-67 / MIB-1 labelling index	
Apoptosis and apoptotic index	32
Angiogenesis and microvascular proliferation	32
Molecular mechanisms of angiogenesis	
Diagnostics and treatment of gliomas	34
Magnetic resonance imaging	
Positron emission tomography	
Molecular diagnostics	
Treatment of gliomas	
Surgery	
Radiotherapy	
Chemotherapy	
Aims of the study	
Materials and methods	40
Tissue samples	40
Magnetic resonance imaging (study I)	40
Immunohistochemistry	40
Scoring of immunohistochemical stainings	42
Immunoblotting (study II)	42
Chromogenic in situ hybridisation and fluorescence in situ hybridisation	
(study III)	43
Screening of p53 gene mutations (study III)	43
Statistical analysis	43
Approvals	44
Results and discussion	45
MRI enhancement and histological features of gliomas (study I)	45
Correlation of MRI enhancement, tumour cell proliferation, vascular	
density and tumour grade (study I)	46
Ezrin is expressed in astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas (study II)	48
Ezrin and patient outcome in gliomas (study II)	50
EGFR amplification in gliomas (study III)	50
Amplification of genes on chromosome 4q12 (study III)	51
PDGFRA	51
KIT	52
VEGFR2	55
Co-amplification of KIT, PDGFRA and VEGFR2	56
Prognostic value of KIT, PDGFRA and EGFR amplifications	56
Mutations of p53 gene	56
Expression of COX-2 and HuR in gliomas (study IV)	56
COX-2	56
HuR	57
Association of COX-2 and HuR expression in gliomas (study IV)	59
Prognostic value of COX-2 and HuR in gliomas (study IV)	59
Molecular changes during glioma progression (studies II-IV)	60

Concluding remarks	61
Acknowledgements	
References	
Original publications	

### LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications:

Ι	Tynninen O, Aronen HJ, Ruhala M, Paetau A, von Boguslawski K, Salonen O, Jääskeläinen J, Paavonen T. MRI enhancement and mi- crovascular density in gliomas. Correlation with tumor cell prolifera- tion. Invest Radiol 34:427-434, 1999
II	Tynninen O, Carpén O, Jääskeläinen J, Paavonen T, Paetau A. Ez- rin expression in tissue microarray of primary and recurrent gliomas. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 30:472-477, 2004
III	Puputti M, Tynninen O, Sihto H, Blom T, Mäenpää H, Isola J, Paetau A, Joensuu H, Nupponen NN. Amplification of KIT, PDGFRA, VEGFR2, and EGFR in gliomas. Mol Cancer Res 4:927- 934, 2006
IV	Tynninen O, Paetau A, Haglund C, Ristimäki A. HuR is a marker of reduced survival in glioma patients and associates with cyclo- oxygenase-2 expression and tumour grade. Manuscript

The publications are referred to in the text by their roman numerals. The publications are reprinted with permission from the copyright holders. Publication III has appeared in the thesis of Marjut Puputti.

### ABBREVIATIONS

2-hydroxyglutarate
array-based CGH
bacterial artificial chromosome
breakpoint cluster region-Abelson
cerebral blood volume
1-(2-Chloroethyl)-3-Cyclohexyl-1-Nitrosourea
cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A
centromere evaluation probe
comparative genomic hybridisation
chromogenic in situ hybridisation
central nervous system
cyclooxygenase
cytosine-guanine dinucleotide
computed tomography
4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
denaturing high-performance liquid chromatography
digoxigenin
deoxyribonucleic acid
diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid
enhanced chemiluminescence
extracellular matrix
epidermal growth factor
epidermal growth factor receptor
epidermal growth factor receptor variant III
erythroblastic leukemia viral oncogene homolog B
ezrin-radixin-moesin
[ <sup>18</sup> F]fluorodeoxyglucose
fluorescence in situ hybridisation
fetal liver kinase-1
factor VIII
glial fibrillary acidic protein
gray
hematoxylin and eosin
hypoxia-inducible factor 1
horseradish peroxidase
human antigen R
isocitrate dehydrogenase
intermediate filament
potassium ion
kilodalton
kinase-insert domain receptor

MET	[ <sup>11</sup> C]methionine
MGMT	O <sup>6</sup> methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase
MLPA	multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MRS	magnetic resonance spectroscopy
n.a.	not applicable
NeuN	neuronal nuclear antigen
NSAID	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
OLIG2	oligodendrocyte transcription factor 2
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PCV	procarbazine, CCNU and vincristine
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PDGFRA	platelet-derived growth factor receptor
PET	positron emission tomography
PlGF	placenta growth factor
Rb	retinoblastoma
RNA	ribonucleic acid
SD	standard deviation
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SPECT	single-photon emission computed tomography
SVZ	subventricular zone
TGF-α	transforming growth factor $\alpha$
uPA	urokinase type plasminogen activator
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
WHO	World Health Organization

## ABSTRACT

Gliomas are the most frequent primary brain tumours. The cardinal features of gliomas are infiltrative growth pattern and progression from low-grade tumours to a more malignant phenotype. These features of gliomas generally prevent their complete surgical excision and cause their inherent tendency to recur after initial treatment and lead to poor long-term prognosis.

Increasing knowledge about the molecular biology of gliomas has produced new markers that supplement histopathological diagnostics. Molecular markers are also used to evaluate the prognosis and predict therapeutic response. The purpose of this thesis is to study molecular events involved in the malignant progression of gliomas.

Gliomas are highly vascularised tumours. Contrast enhancement in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) reflects a disrupted blood-brain barrier and is often seen in malignant gliomas. In this thesis, 62 astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas were studied by MRI and immunohistochemistry. Contrast enhancement in preoperative MRI was associated with angiogenesis, tumour cell proliferation and histological grade of gliomas.

Activation of oncogenes by gene amplification is a common genetic aberration in gliomas. EGFR amplification on chromosome 7p12 occurs in 30-40% of glioblastomas. PDGFRA, KIT and VEGFR2 are receptor tyrosine kinase genes located on chromosome 4q12. Amplification of these genes was studied using in situ hybridisation in the primary and recurrent astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas of 87 patients. PDGFRA, KIT or VEGFR2 amplification was found in 22% of primary tumours and 36% of recurrent tumours including low-grade and malignant gliomas. The most frequent aberration was KIT amplification, which occurred in 10% of primary tumours and in 27% of recurrent tumours.

expression The of ezrin, cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) and HuR was studied immunohistochemically in a series of primary and recurrent gliomas of 113 patients. Ezrin is a cell membrane-cytoskeleton linkingprotein involved in the migration of glioma cells. The COX-2 enzyme is implicated in the carcinogenesis of epithelial neoplasms and is overexpressed in gliomas. HuR is an RNAstabilising protein, which regulates the expression of several proteins including COX-2. Ezrin, COX-2 and HuR were associated with histological grade and the overall survival of glioma patients. However, in multivariate analysis they were not independent prognostic factors.

In conclusion, these results suggest that contrast enhancement in MRI can be used as a surrogate marker for the proliferative and angiogenic potential of gliomas. Aberrations of PDGFRA, KIT and VEGFR2 genes, as well as the dysregulated expression of ezrin, COX-2 and HuR proteins, are linked to the progression of gliomas.

### INTRODUCTION

Gliomas are the most frequent primary brain tumours. They account for one third of all intracranial tumours (Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States, 2011). Gliomas are neoplasms of the supporting cells of the CNS (central nervous system). Their main subtypes are astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas, mixed oligoastrocytomas and ependymomas. The clinical behaviour of gliomas varies greatly from benign to extremely malignant. Half of the gliomas belong to the most malignant category, i.e. glioblastomas with a median survival time of 1 year.

Infiltrating growth pattern and progression from a low-grade tumour to a more malignant phenotype are characteristic of gliomas. These features generally prevent their complete surgical removal and curative treatment. Tumour recurrences are common and ultimately fatal to the patient.

The histological transformation from low-grade neoplasia to secondary malignant glioma and the accumulation of genetic alterations is best documented in astrocytomas but is also feature of oligodendroglial tumours. The two main types of genetic abnormalities involved in glioma progression are activation of oncogenes and inactivation of tumour suppressor genes. Oncogenes promote cell proliferation and invasion as well as inhibit apoptosis. Inactivation of tumour suppressor genes leads to impaired regulation of cell growth.

Management of gliomas has progressed substantially during the past 20 years. Advances in surgery, radiation and chemotherapy have improved the survival of glioma patients. Developments in neuroradiology and neuropathology have refined the diagnostics of gliomas. Understanding of the molecular biology of brain tumours has increased rapidly. This knowledge has been assimilated into clinical neuropathology to complete the histopathological diagnosis. The molecular profiles of gliomas are also used in clinical neuro-oncology to the estimate prognosis for patients (prognostic markers) and to predict responses to chemotherapy or biological therapy (predictive markers).

The objective of this thesis is to study molecular markers related to the progression and recurrence of low-grade gliomas.

## **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

### Pathobiology of glial cells

The main cell types that comprise the CNS are neurons and neuroglial cells. Rudolf Virchow, in 1856, first described neuroglia as a connective substance where the nervous elements are embedded (Virchow, 1856 cited in Somjen, 1988). Neurons are electrochemically active cells responsible for nerve impulse conduction. The three types of neuroglial cells are astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and ependymal cells, together known as macroglial cells. They are supporting cells, which have important functions in maintaining the homeostasis in the CNS. Neuroglial cells comprise approximately half of the total brain volume (Noback et al., 2005). Neurons and neuroglial cells are developmentally derived from neural tube ectoderm. The fourth type of supporting cells in the CNS is the microglial cells, which are brain equivalent for macrophages capable of obtaining antigen-presenting and phagocytic properties (Graeber and Streit, 2010). The name microglia is a misnomer, however. Microglial cells are not true neuroglial cells since they are of mesodermal origin. Precursor cells of microglia migrate to the brain parenchyma during early embryonic development (Monier et al., 2006).

#### Astrocytes

Astrocytes are the main supporting cells of the CNS; they constitute 20-50% of brain volume depending on the anatomical region (Squire et al., 2008). Astrocytes provide physical support for neurons and other cells of the CNS. Historically, the supportive properties of astrocytes were considered their main function. In recent years, however, their role in interactions with neurons and CNS function has been established (Sofroniew and Vinters, 2010).

Astrocytes are further subclassified in fibrous and protoplasmic astrocytes on the basis of their morphology and anatomical distribution. Fibrous astrocytes with long processes are found in cerebral white matter. Protoplasmic astrocytes have extensively branching processes and are located in grey matter (Kiernan, 1998).

Processes of astrocytes ensheath synapses and even participate in synaptic function through the release of regulating molecules called gliotransmitters (Halassa et al., 2007). Astrocytic processes express transport molecules that clear the synaptic space by facilitating the re-uptake of neurotransmitters such as glutamate (Sofroniew and Vinters, 2010). Astrocytes maintain the fluid and ion homeostasis in the CNS through the aquaporin 4 water channel and K+ transporters (Seifert et al., 2006). Astrocytes have numerous contacts with blood vessels and they are involved in controlling the cerebral microcirculation (Iadecola and Nedergaard, 2007).

During the CNS development, the precursor cells of astrocytes are called radial glia, which give rise to astrocytes later in development (Vinters and Kleinschmidt-DeMasters, 2008; Kriegstein and Alvarez-Buylla, 2009). Radial glia establish guiding fibers for neuroblasts when they migrate to the cerebral cortex. In fact, the radial glia are also progenitor cells which give rise to cortical pyramidal neurons as well (Kriegstein and Alvarez-Buylla, 2009).

Astrocytes have a crucial role in the reaction to any tissue damage in the CNS. Tissue injury, such as ischaemia, trauma, radiation injury, infection or neoplastic invasion, can evoke an astrocytic reaction termed gliosis, the CNS equivalent to scarring elsewhere in the body. Astrocytic hypertrophy and proliferation are seen in both acute and chronic injuries to brain tissue. In a normal resting brain, the cytoplasm of astrocytes is barely visible in H&E staining. In reactive gliosis, the morphology of astrocytes is transformed and astrocytes with abundant cytoplasm, known as gemistocytic astrocytes, are formed.

Astrocytic scarring may form borders along the region of tissue damage caused by ischaemia, infection or neoplasms. Glial scars are chronic and may exist in the brain tissue for a long period after the original insult has resolved (Sofroniew and Vinters, 2010). In clinical neuropathology, florid astrocytic gliosis is seen as a reaction to nonglial brain neoplasms and metastases. Benign slowly growing gliomas such as pilocytic astrocytomas may evoke reactive gliosis in the tumour boundaries as well.

#### Oligodendrocytes

Oligodendrocytes are responsible for producing and maintaining the myelin sheaths, which surround axons in the CNS (Kiernan, 1998). In the grey matter, oligodendrocytes are also clustered perineuronally as satellite cells. In the white matter, interfascicular oligodendrocytes are arranged in rows along myelinated axons. Oligodendrocytes are smaller and have fewer processes than astrocytes. In H&E-stained paraffin sections the cytoplasm of oligodendrocytes is not visible, but instead an artefactual perinuclear halo is often present (Vinters and Kleinschmidt-DeMasters, 2008). Oligodendrocytes share a common precursor cell with neurons and astrocytes. They are also derived from radial glia through intermediate progenitor cells (Kriegstein and Alvarez-Buylla, 2009).

Oligodendrocyte responses to tissue injury are limited. They are vulnerable to oxidative damage, which contributes to oligodendrocyte loss in many disorders including multiple sclerosis and ischaemia (Bradl and Lassmann, 2010). In demyelinating diseases, such as multiple sclerosis, oligodendrocyte proliferation can be seen as a reparative response to injury (Vinters and Kleinschmidt-DeMasters, 2008).

#### Ependyma

Ependymal cells line ventricular surfaces of the brain and the central canal of the spinal cord. Morphologically ependymal cells share similarities with columnar and cuboidal epithelial cells, but unlike epithelium, ependyma lacks basal lamina. The apical surface of ependymal cells is covered by microvilli and cilia (Del Bigio, 2010). Ependymal cells contribute to fluid homeostasis between brain parenchyma and cerebrospinal fluid.

### Gliomas

#### Origin of gliomas

The origin of gliomas has excited neuropathologists and neurooncologists for decades and is still enigmatic. The neoplastic transformation of mature glial cells has been introduced as an explanation for gliomagenesis. Since the first publication on the classification of gliomas by Bailey and Cushing (Bailey and Cushing, 1926 cited in Martin-Villalba et al., 2008), the basis of classifications has been that the morphology of low-grade astrocytomas resembles astrocytes and that oligodendrogliomas share common with differentiated features oligodendrocytes. Therefore, it seems reasonable that gliomas are derived from their mature counterpart cells. However, evidence supporting this hypothesis is lacking. The formation of gliomas through dedifferentiation of mature glial cells raises an interesting question. Occasionally, gliomas contain several morphological

components; e.g. oligoastrocytomas are composed of two types of glial cells and glioneuronal tumours contain glial and neuronal cells. How are these gliomas formed if the cell of origin is a mature glial cell?

Glial cell turnover in the adult brain is low. Glial cells, especially astrocytes, are able to proliferate as a response to injury after trauma or demyelination. The cells could acquire mutations and other genetic changes when DNA duplicates in mitosis during reactive proliferation. However, epidemiological studies do not show convincing evidence of incidence after increased glioma trauma (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2005a).

In diffuse gliomas, precursor lesions are not identified and thus, the first morphologically recognisable step in gliomagenesis is a low-grade neoplasm, e.g. grade II astrocytoma. In epithelial cancer such as colon carcinoma, the neoplastic lesion develops in continuously dividing epithelium. Furthermore, a continuum of the progression from a premalignant adenoma to a malignant invasive carcinoma can be identified in colon carcinoma (Fearon, 2010). In contrast to carcinomas, gliomas lack premalignant lesions equivalent to epithelial dysplasia; therefore, understanding of molecular events prior to low-grade glioma is still limited.

The identification of neural stem cells and glial progenitor cells in adult brain has brought new perspectives to gliomagenesis. Neural stem cells are multipotent cells capable of generating multiple cell types and they are self-renewing; i.e. they can remain undifferentiated after cell division (Yadirgi and Marino, 2009). Progenitor cells are precursors capable of producing cells that are of either neuronal or glial lineage, but not both (Sanai et al., 2005). The largest region containing neural stem cells in the human brain is the subventricular zone (SVZ) in the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle (Sanai et al., 2004). The SVZ contains a population of astrocytes that behave as multipotent neural stem cells (Sanai et al., 2004).

Glial progenitor cells have been identified in the human brain (Armstrong et al., 1992; Roy et al., 1999). During development, these glial precursors have three possible fates: 1) they can differentiate into mature glia, 2) they could die during early postnatal development or 3) a small subset remain immature and cycling through adult life (Canoll and Goldman, 2008). It has been estimated that glial precursor cells account for up to 4% of adult white matter cells (Canoll and Goldman, 2008). Hypothetically, if these progenitor cells undergo transformation they could give rise to tumours that could differentiate into astrocytomas or oligodendrogliomas. In fact, the same signalling pathways that regulate self-renewal of normal stem cells are active in the transformation of tumour cells (Sanai et al., 2005). Tumour cells that are multipotent and capable of self-renewal are called cancer stem cells or tumourinitiating cells (Jordan et al., 2006; Hadjipanayis and Van Meir, 2009). Cancer stem cells constitute only a small subpopulation of the tumour bulk but they are essential to tumour growth. Cancer stem cells show increased resistance to radio- and chemotherapy. Therefore, it has been suggested that failure in cancer treatment reflects incomplete elimination of the cancer stem cells resulting in the recurrence of tumours (Prestegarden and Enger, 2010).

Tumour-initiating cells have been isolated from human gliomas and transplanted into mouse brains where they produce tumours that histologically mimic the original gliomas (Galli et al., 2004; Singh et al., 2004).

#### Epidemiology

Tumours of the CNS account for 1.7% of all new cancers worldwide (Parkin et al., 2005). Gliomas represent 31% of the primary CNS tumours (Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States, 2011). In Finland, the incidence of gliomas was 4.7 per 100000 in a recent population-based study (Larjavaara et al., 2007). An increase in the incidence of gliomas during the 1970s and early 1980s has been reported in Finland (Kallio, 1993) and other Nordic countries (Lönn et al., 2004). This increase coincides with the introduction of computed tomography (CT) into clinical practise and may reflect improved detection of gliomas (Lönn et al., 2004).

The peak incidence of gliomas is between the ages of 45 and 70, which is mainly due to glioblastomas, the most malignant type of gliomas (Louis et al., 2008). In children, the benign pilocytic astrocytoma forms a lower incidence peak. Low-grade diffuse gliomas are most common in the 35-44 age group (Okamoto et al., 2004; Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States, 2011). Males are more commonly affected; the male/female ratio of gliomas is 1.26 (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2005b).

Therapeutic high-dose radiation is the only environmental risk factor that is clearly associated with an increased risk of gliomas. Children who have received prophylactic CNS irrradiation for acute lymphoblastic leukemia have an increased risk for developing brain tumors such as gliomas and primitive neuroectodermal tumors (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2005a). The rapid increase in mobile phone use during the last 20 years has raised concerns about the possible link between radiofrequency electromagnetic radiation and brain tumors. A recent international casecontrol study of mobile phone users concludes that they have no increased risk for glioma or men-(INTERPHONE ingioma Study Group, 2010).

Several hereditary tumour syndromes are characterised by predisposition to gliomas among other tumours (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2005a). Neurofibromatosis 1 is associated with pilocytic astrocytomas of the optic nerve and less frequently diffuse astrocytomas or glioblastomas (Rodriguez et al., 2008). Neurofibromatosis 2 patients have an increased risk for spinal ependymomas. Patients with Li-Fraumeni syndrome carry germline mutations of the p53 gene and have increased incidence of astrocytic gliomas (Louis et al., 2007).

#### Classification

The first attempt at classification of gliomas on their histogenetic basis was made by Bailey and Cushing in 1926 (Bailey and Cushing, 1926 cited in Martin-Villalba et al., 2008). Their classification showed that the histopathology of the tumour is can give valuable information about the patient outcome. Predicting the behaviour of the tumour by means of histological grading is the principle of modern glioma classification as well.

The World Health Organization (WHO) classification of gliomas edited by Zülch was first published in 1979 (Zülch, 1979). The second edition, edited by Kleihues, appeared in 1993 (Kleihues et al., 1993). In 1997, the International Agency for Research of Cancer in collaboration with the International Society of Neuropathology, published a reference book that combined pathology and the genetics of brain tumours in one book (Kleihues and Cavenee, 1997). Thereafter, the WHO classification of brain tumours has included genetic alterations in the descriptions of tumour entities (Kleihues and Cavenee, 2000; Louis et al., 2007). The current WHO classification of gliomas published in 2007 is still based on the histopathological morphology of the tumours (Louis et al., 2007).

#### Grading

Histological grading of gliomas gives a powerful estimation of the biological behaviour of the tumour and forms the basis for planning adjuvant therapies after surgical resection.

WHO grade I is applied to tumours, which are clearly circumscribed, benign in their behaviour and can be cured following total surgical resection. WHO grade II tumours are slowly progressing, lowgrade malignant tumours that exhibit cellular atypia without extensive proliferation or anaplasia. Typical survival for grade II neoplasms is over 5 years (Figure 1). WHO grade III tumours show increased cellularity, anaplasia and mitotic figures. Survival for grade III tumour is 2-3 years. In grade IV tumours the histological hallmarks are necrosis and vascular proliferation in addition to grade III features. Together grade III-IV gliomas are called malignant

gliomas. In a population-based study, the median survival for grade IV gliomas i.e. glioblastomas was less than 1 year (Ohgaki et al., 2004). In recent trials, there has been a promising tendency of improved prognosis when glioblastomas are treated with combined radiotherapy and chemotherapy (Glas et al., 2009; Stupp et al., 2009). Currently, there is considerable interobserver variability in the grading of gliomas, and new grading schemes are needed, in which histological criteria are unequivocally defined and scored (Kros, 2011). The main difference between grade I and grade II-IV gliomas is their growth pattern. Benign grade I gliomas e.g. pilocytic astrocytomas are typically discrete while grade II-IV tumours show



Figure 1 Survival of 78 patients with astrocytic gliomas WHO grade II-IV (study IV).

diffuse infiltration of neoplastic cells into the surrounding brain. The emphasis of this thesis is on diffuse gliomas, i.e. astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas, grade II-IV.

# Histopathology of diffuse gliomas

#### Diffuse astrocytoma

The peak incidence of grade II diffuse astrocytomas is between ages 30 and 40. There is a slight male predominance 1.18:1 (Louis et al., 2007). Cerebral hemispheres are mainly affected in adults. Brain stem and thalamus are more commonly affected in children.

WHO Diffuse astrocytomas grade II show increased cellularity (2-3 times) compared to normal white matter. Due to their infiltrative nature, the margins of diffuse astrocytomas cannot be clearly defined. Neoplastic cells intermingle with normal structures and cells; they also follow axons and tracts. Astrocytoma cells infiltrate the cortex and deep gray matter and surround neurons (perineuronal satellitosis). Microcystic change of tumour tissue is a common feature.

The two main histological subtypes are fibrillary and gemistocytic astrocytoma. In fibrillary astrocytoma, tumour cells have scant cytoplasm with numerous processes forming a fibrillary background. Nuclei are enlarged, hyperchromatic and irregular in shape. Gemistocytic astrocytomas are characterised by the plump eosinophilic cytoplasm and eccentric nuclei of the neoplastic cells. The rare variant protoplasmic astrocytoma consists of small cells with few cytoplasmic processes and mucoid or microcystic matrix. Some studies suggest that gemistocytic morphology is an unfavourable prognostic feature in astrocytomas (Shaw et al., 1989; Krouwer et al., 1991; Okamoto et al., 2004). Gemistocytic astrocytomas are prone to undergo malignant progression more rapidly than fibrillary astrocytomas (Louis et al., 2007).

There is no strict cut-off value for mitotic figures in grade II astrocytomas but generally occasional mitoses are accepted especially in large tumour samples. However, in small stereotactic biopsies, even single mitotic figure may allow grading to anaplastic astrocytoma if other cellular features are consistent with anaplasia.

#### Anaplastic astrocytoma

Anaplastic astrocytomas share the main histopathological features with diffuse astrocytomas with signs of focal or diffuse anaplasia. Anaplastic astrocytomas are hypercellular with marked mitotic activity and nuclear pleomorphism. The shape of nuclei is more angular and chromatin structure coarse compared to grade II astrocytomas. Anaplastic astrocytomas occur in the older age group compared to the grade II astrocytomas. Their peak incidence is approximately 45 years (Louis et al., 2007).

#### Glioblastoma

Glioblastomas are the most common primary brain tumours. They account for 12-15% of all intracranial neoplasms (Louis et al., 2007). Glioblastomas occur preferentially in adults; their peak incidence is between 40 and 70 years.

Glioblastomas are the most malignant gliomas. The morphology of glioblastomas may be extremely heterogeneous as indicated in their previous name glioblastoma multiforme. Both cellular and nuclear pleomorphism is a prominent feature. Mitotic figures and atypical mitoses are frequent. Cellular composition varies from small fusiform cells to multinucleated giant cells.

The key features distinguishing glioblastomas from lower-grade astrocytomas are necrosis and microvascular proliferation. Typically, glioblastomas have large central necroses surrounded by vital tumour tissue as seen in MRI imaging. The histologically characteristic form of necrosis consists of irregular necrotic foci surrounded by a radially oriented pseudopalisading zone of glioma cells. Thrombosed vessels are frequently seen in necrotic tumour areas. Brat et al. have postulated that glioma cells form pseudopalisades when migrating away from the hypoxic focus, which is often caused by vessel thrombosis (Brat et al., 2004).

Microvascular proliferation appears as glomeruloid vascular structures, which consist of hyperplastic endothelial and smooth muscle cells (Wesseling et al., 1995). Glomeruloid vessels are often seen near necrotic foci and less frequently at the infiltrating edge of glioblastomas. Glioblastomas are divided into two subtypes that are histologically indistinguishable. Primary glioblastomas (de novo glioblastomas) develop without a previous clinical history of glioma. Secondary glioblastomas arise through malignant progression from pre-existing lower-grade astrocytomas (Louis et al., 2007).

The vast majority (over 90%) of glioblastomas are primary. They usually develop at old age (mean 62 years) with short clinical history of symptoms (mean 6 months) (Ohgaki et al., 2004; Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2005b). Secondary glioblastomas are rare tumours comprising less than 10% of all glioblastomas. They develop at younger age (mean 45 years) and more frequently in women (male/female ratio 0.65) (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2005b). Progression from grade II glioma to glioblastoma takes an average for 5.3 years and from grade III glioma for 1.4 years (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2005b). Approximately 70% of grade II gliomas progress into grade III/IV (Furnari et al., 2007).

Several morphological variants of glioblastoma are recognised. Occasionally glioblastomas contain oligodendroglioma-like areas. According to the WHO 2007 classification, these tumours should be called glioblastomas with oligodendroglial component, and they may have better prognosis than ordinary glioblastomas (Louis et al., 2007). Small cell glioblastomas are composed of a dense infiltrate of small monomorphic tumour cells with round or slightly elongated nuclei. These tumours should be distinguished from poorly

differentiated anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. *Gliosarcoma* is a biphasic variant of glioblastoma consisting of a malignant glial and sarcomatous mesenchymal component. *Giant cell glioblastoma* consists of bizarre, multinucleated giant cells. This variant may exhibit a less infiltrative growth pattern and slightly favourable prognosis (Louis et al., 2007).

#### Oligodendroglioma

Oligodendrogliomas account for 5% of all gliomas Oligodendrogliomas arise primarily in the cerebral hemispheres of adults with a peak incidence between 40 and 45 years of age (Louis et al., 2007). In children, oligodendroglioma is rare. The cardinal histological features of oligodendrogliomas are round nuclei and perinuclear halo artefact in paraffin sections, producing a typical morphology resembling fried egg. Oligodendrogliomas typically infiltrate to cerebral cortex where neoplastic cells gather around neurons (perineuronal satellitosis). Migrating tumour cells often accumulate at the subpial surface of the cortex. These growth patterns are called secondary structures of Scherer (Scherer, 1938 cited in Claes et al., 2007). Microcysts and calcifications are also features of oligodendrogliomas, although they are non-specific.

Occasionally oligodendrogliomas contain minigemistocytes resembling gemistocytic astrocytes. Reactive astrocytes are usually scattered evenly throughout the oligodendroglioma. The branching capillary network of oligodendrogliomas resembles chicken wire pattern. Occasional mitoses are compatible with the diagnosis of grade II oligodendroglioma (Louis et al., 2007).

#### Anaplastic oligodendroglioma

Anaplastic oligodendrogliomas account for 1.3% of gliomas. They manifest in the slightly older age group compared to low-grade oligodendrogliomas, with a peak incidence between 45 and 50 years (Louis et al., 2007).

Morphologically anaplastic oligodendrogliomas show high cellularity. There is marked nuclear atypia and mitotic figures are frequent. In addition to characteristic branching capillaries of oligodendrogliomas, microvascular proliferation may be present. Foci of necrosis are present in one third of anaplastic oligodendrogliomas (Miller et al., 2006).

#### Oligoastrocytoma and anaplastic oligoastrocytoma

Oligoastrocytomas are defined as tumours with two cell components resembling astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma. The two cellular components are usually intermingled. In rare cases, the tumour is biphasic and can be divided into astrocytic and oligodendrocytic areas. Currently, there is considerable interobserver variability in the diagnostics of oligoastrocytic tumours due to lack of definite histological criteria (Kros et al., 2007).

Grade II oligoastrocytomas show moderate cellularity and low mitotic activity. Microcystic change and calcification may be present. In anaplastic oligoastrocytomas, diagnostic features are high cellularity, obvious mitotic activity, cellular pleomorphism and microvascular proliferation. Anaplastic oligoastrocytomas with necrosis should be classified as glioblastomas with an oligodendroglial component, because necrosis is marker of poor prognosis in these tumours (Miller et al., 2006; Louis et al., 2007).

#### Histological types and survival

Median survival times by histological glioma type from population-based studies are shown in Table 1. Oligodendroglial tumours generally have a better prognosis than astrocytomas of the corresponding WHO grade. Clinical trials usually show better outcomes than populationbased studies due to bias towards recruitment of younger patients and patients with better performance status (Louis et al., 2007). The glioblastoma patients presented in Table 1 were diagnosed and treated before the era of modern chemoradiotherapy (see later).

# Molecular pathogenesis of gliomas

## Natural course of diffuse gliomas

Recurrence after treatment and progression towards a more malignant phenotype are inherent characteristics of diffuse gliomas. Most lowgrade gliomas develop a recurrent tumour after variable periods of time. Often the recurrent tumour shows histologically increased cellularity, nuclear atypia and mitoses as features of morphological progression (Figure 2). Molecular pathogenesis of gliomas is a stepwise process where genetic alterations accumulate in glial cells causing initiation and progression of the tumour. Therefore, the number of greatest genetic changes is in glioblastomas. Single molecular events can be dated to certain steps of tumour evolution and correlated with histological phenotype. The path of progression at both the histological and molecular level has

	WHO		Mean	Median survival
Tumour histology	grade	n	age	(years)
Astrocytoma	II	52	41.0	5.6
Oligoastrocytoma	II	20	41.1	6.6
Oligodendroglioma	П	50	40.9	11.6
Anaplastic astrocytoma	Ш	47	45.5	1.6
Anaplastic oligoastrocytoma	III	11	48.2	-
Anaplastic oligodendroglioma	III	13	50.4	3.5
Glioblastoma	IV	680	62.2	0.4

Table 1Mean age and median survival of gliomas in a population-based<br/>material from Switzerland, diagnosed in 1980-1994.

Source: (Okamoto et al., 2004; Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2005b).

been best characterised in astrocytomas. Hanahan and Weinberg have suggested that cancer cells share six critical alterations, the hallmarks of cancer, that enable their malignant behaviour: 1) self-sufficiency in growth signals, 2) insensitivity to growth-inhibiting signals, 3) resistance to apoptosis, 4) limitless replication, 5) angiogenesis and 6) tissue invasion and metastasis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). In their recent review, the authors have updated the cancer hallmarks and added two emerging characteristics of cancer cells: 1) metabolic reprogramming (aerobic glycolysis) and 2) capability of avoiding destruction by the immune system (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Most of these characteristics are common for different types of cancers including gliomas and will be reviewed in the following sections.

#### Oncogenes

#### EGFR

Oncogenes are altered genes that promote the neoplastic transforma-



Figure 2 Histological progression of gliomas. A, low-grade astrocytoma showing low cellularity and nuclear atypia. B, 5 years later the tumour in fig. A has progressed to glioblastoma with high cellularity, vascular proliferation and necrosis. C, low-grade oligodendroglioma shows round nuclei and prinuclear halos. D, recurrence of the tumour in fig. C 10.5 years later with increased cellularity and vascular proliferation.

tion of cells. Activation of oncogenes occurs by mutation or amplification of their normal cellular counterparts proto-oncogenes.

Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is the most frequently amplified gene in glioblastomas. EGFR is a member of the ErbB family of tyrosine kinase receptors, which are often dysregulated in cancer. EGFR amplification and overexpression are reported in over 30% of all glioblastomas (including primary and secondary) (Louis, 2006). The EGFR gene is located at chromosome 7p12. It encodes a 170 kD transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor protein. EGF and TGF- $\alpha$  are ligands for the EGFR. Activation of wild-type EGFR by its ligand triggers signalling cascade, which enhances cell proliferation and migration (Yarden and Sliwkowski, 2001). Amplification of the EGFR gene leads to overexpression at the mRNA and protein level and is often associated with structural alterations of the gene. Amplified EGFR genes are usually extrachromosomal double minute fragments. EGFR amplification is typical genetic alteration in primary glioblastomas, present in ca. 40% of cases (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2007). In secondary glioblastomas, EGFR amplification is rare (Ohgaki et al., 2004).

The most common mutant of EGFR gene is EGFRvIII, which occurs in 50-60% of tumours with EGFR amplification (Furnari et al., 2007). The mutant EGFRvIII results from deletions of exons 2-7 and lead to truncated form of EGFR protein lacking part of extracellular domain. EGFRvIII is constitutively active resulting in increased proliferation and reduced apoptosis (Furnari et al., 2007).

#### KIT, PDGFRA and VEGFR2

KIT. PDGFRA and VEGFR2 (KDR) are receptor tyrosine kinase genes that are clustered on chromosomal segment 4q12. Under physiological conditions, KIT is activated by the binding of its ligand stem cell factor (Antonescu, 2011). Activation of KIT triggers signalling cascades that result in cell proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis (Kitamura and Hirotab, 2004). Oncogenic mutations of KIT are found in the majority of gastrointestinal stromal tumours (Hirota et al., 1998) as well as in a subset of melanomas (Curtin et al., 2006) and seminomas (Tian et al., 1999) but they are uncommon in other types of solid cancer (Sihto et al., 2005). High-level KIT amplification is present in 33% of glioblastomas but its overexpression at protein level is rare (Joensuu et al., 2005).

PDGFRA and its ligand PDGF are overexpressed in malignant gliomas (Fleming et al., 1992; Guha et al., 1995; Lokker et al., 2002; Joensuu et al., 2005; Paulsson et al., 2011), which suggests the presence of an autocrine signalling loop. Amplification of the PDGFRA gene has been found in a subset of glioblastomas (Fleming et al., 1992; Hermanson et al., 1996; Joensuu et al., 2005; Verhaak et al., 2010). In an experimental cell culture and mouse model, overexpression of PDGF in neural progenitor cells by gene transfer has been shown to induce tumours identical to human oligodendrogliomas (Dai et al., 2001).

VEGFR2 is predominantly expressed in endothelial cells of glioblastomas but may be present in tumour cells as well (Hatva et al., 1995; Steiner et al., 2004). The VEGFR2 gene is amplified in 22% of glioblastomas (Joensuu et al., 2005). KIT, PDGFRA, and VEGFR2 genes are concurrently amplified in up to 21% glioblastomas (Joensuu et al., 2005). The role of PDGFRA and VEGFR2 in the angiogenesis of gliomas will be discussed later.

#### Tumour suppressor genes

#### p53

Tumour suppressor genes are growth-controlling genes of the cells. Their inactivation by deletions, mutations or epigenetic mechanisms leads to dysregulation of the cell cycle and is a common mechanism in the development of cancer.

p53 is a tumour suppressor gene located at chromosome 17p13. Inactivation of p53 by mutations leads to the accumulation of non-functioning protein in the cell. Dysfunction of the p53 pathway is one of the most common molecular alterations in human malignancies. Intact p53 responds to DNA damage or oncogene activation by blocking the cell cycle in the G1 phase or by inducing apoptosis, preventing possible neoplastic transformation of the cell (Furnari et al., 2007). The p53 mutation is a hallmark of diffuse astrocytomas (Louis et al., 2007). p53

mutation is an early event in the progression of astrocytomas (Figure 3); over half of grade II astrocytomas carry the p53 mutation (Watanabe et al., 1997; Okamoto et al., 2004). Therefore, the p53 mutation is frequent in secondary glioblastomas, which develop from lowergrade gliomas (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2007). p53 protein accumulation is frequent in astrocytomas, but elevated protein expression is not always due to mutation. Immunohistochemical p53 staining is useful in differentiating between astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas in neuropathological diagnostics. Strong nuclear staining for p53 often reflects mutation of the gene and is more frequent in astrocytomas than in oligodendrogliomas (Gupta et al., 2005). Mutations of the p53 gene can be heterogeneous, and one glioma may contain tumour cells with different p53 mutations (Ren et al., 2007).

#### PTEN and Rb1

The PTEN gene, located at 10q23.3, is a tumour suppressor gene that is inactivated by deletion or mutation in up to 40% of glioblastomas (Knobbe et al., 2002; Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, part of 2008). PTEN is the PI3K/PTEN/AKT pathway, and its inactivation eventually leads to cell proliferation (Knobbe et al., 2002).

The retinoblastoma gene (Rb1) encodes Rb protein that regulates transition from G1 phase to S phase in the cell cycle (Harbour and Dean, 2000). Rb1 is inactivated by deletion in one third of high-grade astrocy-



Figure 3 Summary of the most frequent genetic alterations during the progression of gliomas (Louis et al., 2007; Riemenschneider et al., 2010).

tomas (Henson et al., 1994; Ichimura et al., 1996).

#### 1p and 19q deletions

Deletions of chromosome arms 1p and 19q are characteristic of oligodendroglial tumours (von Deimling et al., 1992; Reifenberger et al., 1994; Cairncross et al., 1998). Codeletion of 1p and 19q is present in 44-80% of oligodendrogliomas (Smith et al., 2000; Watanabe et al., 2002; Okamoto et al., 2004; Jeuken et al., 2010) and in 20-30% of oligoastrocytomas (Smith et al., 2000; Jeuken et al., 2001; Jeuken et al., 2010). 1p/19q deletion frequently involves the chromosome arms in their entirety. Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) of 1p and 19q is mediated by unbalanced translocation t(1;19)(q10;p10), where derivative chromosome 1p-19q is lost (Griffin et al., 2006; Jenkins et al., 2006). So far, the search for tumour suppressor genes in these chromosome arms has been unsuccessful (Jansen et al., 2010).

Oligodendrogliomas that have classic histological features such as uniform round nuclei with perinuclear halo and a vascular pattern resembling chicken wire show strong correlation with 1p/19 co-deletion (Giannini et al., 2008; Scheie et al., 2008).

1p/19q deletion is a powerful prognostic and predictive marker for oligodendroglial tumours. Loss of 1p/19q was reported to associate with better response to chemotherapy and longer overall survival in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas in 1998 (Cairncross et al., 1998). The prognostic value of 1p/19q loss in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas has been confirmed in clinical trials (Cairncross et al., 2006; van den Bent et al., 2006). Deletion of 1p/19q predicts a chemotherapy response and better overall survival in low-grade gliomas as well (Kaloshi et al., 2007). However, the effect of 1p/19q deletion on patient outcome may be smaller in low-grade gliomas and its role in the management of patients is still controversial (Jansen et al., 2010; Tabatabai et al., 2010).

Loss of 1p/19q seems to have prognostic importance only in patients treated with either radiotherapy or combined radiotherapy and chemotherapy. 1p/19q loss was not prognostic marker for progressionfree survival in patients who underwent surgical resection for their oligodendroglial tumour without further treatment (Weller et al., 2007).

#### MGMT

MGMT (O<sup>6</sup> methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase) is an enzyme that repairs DNA damage caused by alkylating chemotherapeutic agents used in the treatment of gliomas (Esteller et al., 2000). Therefore, functioning MGMT enzyme causes resistance to alkylating drugs such as temozolomide. The MGMT gene is located at chromosome 10q26. Its transcription is inactivated by methylation of CpG islands in the gene promoter area in several human cancers including gliomas (Esteller et al., 1999). MGMT gene is methylated in 41-45% of glioblastomas (Esteller et al., 1999; Hegi et al., 2005).

MGMT promoter methylation is associated with a response to temozolomide treatment in glioblastoma patients and has therefore been introduced as a predictive marker for chemotherapy (Hegi et al., 2005). However, MGMT methylation is a favourable marker for survival even in glioblastoma patients who have received radiation treatment, but not chemotherapy (Rivera et al., 2010). Thus, MGMT methylation may not be just a positive predictive marker for chemotherapy, but indicates in general a favourable prognostic phenotype in glioblastoma (Jansen et al., 2010). MGMT methylation is correlated with 1p/19q deletion and prognosis in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas as well (van den Bent et al., 2009).

#### IDH1

The IDH1 gene in chromosome 2q33 encodes cytoplasmic isocitrate dehydrogenase-1 enzyme, which participates in the citric acid cycle. Mutations of the IDH1 gene are a novel finding in gliomas. IDH1 gene mutations were reported in 12% of 22 glioblastomas in a comprehensive genomic analysis of over 20000 protein-coding genes. In this genomewide analysis, the investigators searched for mutations in genes that were previously not known to be altered in glioblastomas (Parsons et al., 2008). In a larger series of 321 gliomas, IDH1 was frequently mutated in low-grade astrocytomas (88%)and oligodendrogliomas (79%) (Watanabe et al., 2009). IDH2 is a mitochondrial counterpart of IDH1, and it is less frequently mutated in gliomas. Three percent of diffuse gliomas carry the IDH2 mutation (Hartmann et al., 2009).

IDH1 mutation is a very early event in gliomagenesis (Figure 3). In multiple biopsies of gliomas, IDH1 mutation is present before p53 mutations or 1p/19q loss (Watanabe et al., 2009). This suggests that IDH1 mutation takes place in glial precursor cells, and subsequent acquisition of the p53 mutation may lead to astrocytic differentiation while loss of 1p/19q leads to an oligodendrocytic phenotype (Watanabe et al., 2009). IDH1 mutation is present in 82% of secondary glioblastomas and rarely in primary glioblastomas (5%) suggesting different origins of these glioblastoma subtypes (Watanabe et al., 2009).

IDH1 mutation is a favourable prognostic factor in all grades of diffuse gliomas (Dubbink et al., 2009; Sanson et al., 2009; Weller et al., 2009; Wick et al., 2009; van den Bent et al., 2010). Furthermore, anaplastic astrocytomas without the IDH1 mutation have an even worse outcome than glioblastomas with mutated IDH1 (Hartmann et al., 2010). IDH1 mutation is also associated with 1p/19q co-deletion and MGMT promoter methylation in gliomas (Sanson et al., 2009; Labussiere et al., 2010; van den Bent et al., 2010).

Mutations of the IDH1 and IDH2 genes can be detected by DNA sequencing (Parsons et al., 2008). Over 90% of IDH1 mutations result in substitution the of amino acid arginine by histidine at codon 132 (p.R132H) (Hartmann et al., 2009). Monoclonal antibodies against mutant p.R132H IDH1 protein have been recently developed (Capper et al., 2009; Kato et al., 2009). These antibodies are suitable for paraffin-embedded tissues and allow inexpensive immunohistochemical detection of the most common IDH1 mutation in routine clinical neuropathology.

Currently, there are different hypotheses on the oncogenic mechanism of IDH1 mutations. The heterozygous mutation of IDH1 leads to reduced formation of its product  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate, which increases the levels of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in cultured glioblastoma cells (Zhao et al., 2009). HIF-1 is a transcription factor that regulates genes implicated in tumour angiogenesis and cell proliferation (Semenza, 2010). These results suggest that IDH1 could act as a tumour suppressor gene (Zhao et al., 2009).

al., 2009). However, the direct relationship between IDH1 mutation and HIF-1 $\alpha$  upregulation has been questioned. Williams and co-workers analysed 120 gliomas by IDH1 and HIF-1 $\alpha$  immunohistochemistry (Williams et al., 2011). In their publication, the link between the expression of mutant IDH1 and HIF-1 $\alpha$  was not evident, suggesting that activation of the HIF-1 $\alpha$  pathway is not primarily regulated by IDH1 mutation.

Another mechanism for IDH1related tumourigenesis has been suggested by Dang et al. They have shown that mutated IDH1 gains a novel enzymatic activity and is able convert  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate to 2hydroxyglutarate (2HG) (Dang et al., 2009). Accumulation of 2HG could be a tumourigenic event in the brain, suggesting an oncogenic gain of function of mutated IDH1 (Jansen et al., 2010).

# Markers of tumour cell differentiation and phenotype

#### Intermediate filaments

Identification of the origin and differentiation of tumour cells by studying their protein expression is a basic method in modern pathology. Immunohistochemistry is used to investigate cytoplasmic, nuclear and membranotic antigens in the classification of tumours.

Intermediate filaments (IF) are constituents of the cell cytoskeleton. The IF proteins are subclassified by their sequence homology into six classes: I-II) cytokeratins, III) vimentin, desmin and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), IV) neurofilament proteins and α-internexin, V) nuclear proteins lamins, VI) nestin (Dahlstrand et al., 1992; Herrmann and Aebi, 2000).

GFAP is expressed in normal, reactive and neoplastic astrocytic cells. GFAP immunohistochemistry is a useful tool in clinical neuropathology differentiating glial tumours from meningeal neoplasms and metastases. Although GFAP expression tends to decrease during the course of glioma progression (Louis et al., 2008), focal GFAP reactivity is usually still seen even in poorly differenglioblastomas. tiated **GFAP** expression is found in 80% of oligodendroglial tumours; therefore, its use in differentiating oligodendrogliomas from astrocytomas is limited (Ikota et al., 2006). In oligodendrogliomas, expression of  $\alpha$ -internexin associates with 1p/19q deletions (Ducray et al., 2009) and the proneural gene expression profile, which is related to good prognosis (Ducray et al., 2008).

Vimentin is expressed in both astrocytic and oligodendroglial tumours (Dehghani et al., 1998; Koperek et al., 2004; Ikota et al., 2006). Nestin is a class VI intermediate filament that is expressed in neural stem cells and in high-grade astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas (Lendahl et al., 1990; Dahlstrand et al., 1992; Ikota et al., 2006). Poorly differentiated and metaplastic glioblastomas rarely express CVtokeratins (Oh and Prayson, 1999). Therefore, cytokeratin immunohistochemistry combined with GFAP can be used in differentiating gliomas from metastatic carcinomas. Cytokeratin antibody CAM 5.2 is useful in this setting. However, cytokeratin antibody AE1/AE3 should be avoided because it is frequently positive in glioblastomas, probably due to non-specific cross-reactivity with other intermediate filaments (Oh and Prayson, 1999).

#### Other markers of differentiation

OLIG2 is a recently identified transcription factor that regulates oligodendroglial development (Yokoo et al., 2004). OLIG2 expression is high in diffuse gliomas but is also found in other primary CNS malignancies (Ligon et al., 2004). Immunohistochemical OLIG2 staining can be used in differentiating between primary CNS tumours and metastasis (Ligon et al., 2004).

Histological classification of gliomas includes specific entities of mixed glioneuronal tumours. However, neuronal differentiation at the molecular level is present in a subset of diffuse gliomas even without histological features of neuronal morphology. Neurofilament expression has been found immunohistochemically in astrocytomas and in oligodendrogliomas (Wharton et al., 1998; Wharton et al., 2002). Other neuronal antigens such as synaptophysin, neuronal nuclear antigen (NeuN) and chromogranin are expressed in glioblastomas, especially in the giant cell subtype (Donev et al., 2010).

## Molecules linked to glioma progression

#### Actin and ERM proteins

Actin microfilaments are a major constituent of the cell cytoskeleton. Actin has a key role in cell motility and migration. In brain physiology, actin cytoskeleton is involved in axon formation of neurons. Actin filaments are in closely involved with the cell membrane. Important mediators of this interaction are the members of the ERM (ezrin-radixinmoesin) protein family (Tsukita and Yonemura, 1997; Vaheri et al., 1997).

Astrocytes are capable of migrating to the site of tissue damage in the CNS. Ezrin and radixin are localised in peripheral astrocytic processes in rat cell cultures suggesting their possible role in astrocyte motility (Derouiche and Frotscher, 2001). Ezrin expression has been confirmed immunohistochemically in human astrocytes as well (Geiger et al., 2000; Grönholm et al., 2005).

Ezrin has been implicated in the progression of several human cancers. Ezrin participates in motility and invasion of pancreatic cancer cells (Meng et al., 2010) as well as in osteosarcoma metastasis (Khanna et al., 2004). Furthermore, ezrin expression is associated with the invasion of cutaneous melanoma (Ilmonen et al., 2005). Ezrin is an unfavourable prognostic factor in uveal melanoma and colorectal carcinoma (Mäkitie et al., 2001; Elzagheid et al., 2008).

In neuroepithelial tumours, ezrin expression has been detected in as-

trocytomas (Geiger et al., 2000), ependymomas (Böhling et al., 1996; Snuderl et al., 2008), gangliogliomas (Majores et al., 2005) and medulloblastomas (Osawa et al., 2009). Overexpression of ezrin is correlated with increasing malignancy grade in astrocytomas (Geiger et al., 2000). In medulloblastomas, ezrin promotes tumour cell invasion (Osawa et al., 2009). Merlin (schwannomin), another member of the moesin-ezrinradixin (i.e. ERM) family is the tumour suppressor gene involved in neurofibromatosis 2 syndrome (Asthagiri et al., 2009).

### COX-2

Cyclooxygenase (COX) is the key enzyme in prostaglandin synthesis. The two isoforms COX-1 and COX-2 catalyze the conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandins (Dubois et al., 1998). COX-1 is constitutively expressed in several tissues including brain (Menter et al., 2010). COX-2 is an inducible enzyme, which is normally not expressed in most tissues, but is upregulated in inflammation (Wang and Dubois, 2010a).

COX-2 has been implicated in carcinogenesis and it is dysregulated in many cancers such as carcinomas of the colon (Eberhart et al., 1994), stomach (Ristimäki et al., 1997) and breast (Hwang et al., 1998). Epidemiological studies have indicated that prolonged use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) reduces the risk of developing colorectal cancer (Thun et al., 2002). It has been hypothesized that antitumour effects of NSAIDs are mediated mainly by inhibition of COX-2 and subsequent reduction of prostaglandin synthesis (Wang and Dubois, 2010b).

COX-2 is expressed in neurons of normal human brain tissue (Yasojima et al., 1999; Joki et al., 2000). Overexpression of COX-2 has been reported in astrocytomas (Deininger et al., 1999; Joki et al., 2000; Shono et al., 2001) and in oligodendrogliomas (Castilla et al., 2003). Elevated COX-2 is correlated with high histological grade (Joki et al., 2000) and poor prognosis (Shono et al., 2001; Castilla et al., 2003) in gliomas.

#### HuR

Hu proteins are a family of four RNA-binding proteins that participate in post-transcriptional regulation of RNA. HuB, HuC and HuD are primarily expressed in neurons and have important functions in neuronal development and memory (Hinman and Lou, 2008). HuR is ubiquitously expressed in human tissues and is predominantly present in the nucleus (Lopez de Silanes et al., 2005). HuR is able to shuttle between the nucleus and cytoplasm, which is considered a main mechanism for its RNA-stabilising function (Doller et al., 2008). HuR overexpression can increase the halflife of its target RNAs such as RNA of TNFa (Dean et al., 2001). HuR also binds to mRNA of VEGF and COX-2 and regulates their expression (Levy et al., 1998; Sengupta et al., 2003; Mrena et al., 2005; Young et al., 2009). Cytoplasmic expression of HuR is associated with high COX-2 expression in carcinomas of the colon, ovary and stomach (Erkinheimo et al., 2003; Mrena et al., 2005; Denkert et al., 2006). Furthermore, cytoplasmic HuR expression is an independent prognostic factor in cancers of the breast (Heinonen et al., 2005) and ovary (Denkert et al., 2004a). Expression of HuR has been found in brain tumours such as gliomas and medulloblastomas (Nabors et al., 2001; Ido et al., 2008).

#### Mechanisms of glioma invasion

Gliomas have an inherent tendency to infiltrate the surrounding brain. This growth pattern usually prevents their complete neurosurgical resection. Infiltrative growth is histologically seen already in low-grade gliomas. Unlike in many organs, basal membrane does not inhibit tumour cell invasion in brain parenchyma. In brain, well-defined basal membrane is limited to subpial and perivascular locations. Mechanisms involved in glioma cell invasion to surrounding brain include detachment of the cell from its original site, attachment to the extracellular matrix (ECM) and proteolytic degradation of ECM (Nakada et al., 2007). These alterations facilitate the subsequent cell migration by modifications of the actin cytoskeleton.

Typical invasion routes of malignant glioma cells are along white matter tracts and basal laminas of blood vessels (Furnari et al., 2007). Haematogenous spread and metastasis of malignant gliomas is extremely rare. There is experimental evidence that glioma cell lack the ability to invade intact blood vessels (Bernstein and Woodard, 1995). However, the molecular basis of this feature of malignant gliomas is not known.

Proteases including matrix metalloproteinases (MMP2, MMP9), urokinase type plasminogen activator (uPA) and cathepsin B are expressed in gliomas by grade dependent manner and they have a potential role in glioma cell invasion (Rao, 2003).

#### **Tumour cell proliferation**

#### Mitotic activity

Mitotic activity is one of the four major histopathological grading criteria of gliomas, with the others being atypia, microvascular proliferation and necrosis. The presence of mitotic activity separates grade III-IV tumours from grade II. In the current WHO classification, the numbers of mitotic figures for different grades are not defined. Occasional mitoses in grade II gliomas are accepted (Louis et al., 2007). In the St. Anne/Mayo grading scheme for astrocytomas even single mitotic figure is a criterion for grade III. However, the clinical behaviour of astrocytomas with a solitary mitosis is more like that of grade II tumours supporting tolerance for occasional mitoses in clinical practice (Giannini et al., 1999).

#### KI-67 / MIB-1 labelling index

In clinical neuropathology glioma grading can be problematic due to small histological samples or the absence of mitotic figures in an otherwise anaplastic tumour. Immunohistochemical labelling of proliferating cells with monoclonal antibody MIB-1 has become an invaluable aid in glioma diagnostics. MIB-1 antibody recognizes a nuclear Ki-67 antigen, which is expressed in the cell cycle except the resting phase G0 (Cattoretti et al., 1992).

The tumour proliferation index as measured by the fraction of MIB-1-positive tumour cells correlates with histological grade and survival in astrocytomas (Sallinen et al., 1994; Wakimoto et al., 1996; Giannini et al., 1999). Prognostic significance of MIB-1 index has also been shown in oligodendrogliomas (Heegaard et al., 1995; Kros et al., 1996; Dehghani et al., 1998).

#### Apoptosis and apoptotic index

Apoptosis or programmed cell death is a physiological characteristic of cells during embryogenesis and adult life enabling normal turnover of tissues (Holcik et al., 2005). Apoptosis can be found in malignant tumours where it determines tumour net growth together with cell proliferation. Tumour cell apoptosis can be spontaneous or it can be induced by chemotherapeutic irradiation or agents (Kerr et al., 1994). Apoptotic cells can be quantified in tissue sections to calculate the apoptotic index of the tumour (Gavrieli et al., 1992). In gliomas, the apoptotic rate does not correlate with prognosis (Schiffer et al., 1995; Heesters et al., 1999).

# Angiogenesis and microvascular proliferation

Angiogenesis in gliomas is a complex process involving tumour cells, endothelial cells, growth factors and their receptors as well as extracellular Cerebral matrix. capillaries are formed by endothelial cells and their basal lamina, which are enveloped by pericytes and astrocytic foot processes (Ballabh et al., 2004). These cells form the blood-brain barrier, which inhibits the exchange of molecules between the bloodstream and brain. Tight junctions (zonula occludens) between endothelial cells are the main anatomical component of the blood-brain barrier.

Angiogenesis plays an important role in glioma growth and progression. Neovascularisation in gliomas means an increase in vascular density and formation of abnormal vascular structures (Figure 4). Microvessel density correlates with tumour grade in astrocytomas (Leon et al., 1996). Vascular density is also an independent prognostic factor in adult astrocytomas (Leon al., 1996; et Abdulrauf et al., 1998; Birlik et al., 2006). The blood-brain barrier of brain tumour vessels is defective because the endothelial cells lack tight junctions, and the vessels are enveloped by only a few pericytes or astrocytic foot processes. Consequently, these defects lead to the accumulation of fluid and plasma proteins in the extracellular space and peritumoural vasogenic oedema (Furnari et al., 2007). The brain lacks lymphatic vessels through which the extravasated fluid is transported back into circulation in other organs. Thus, in the brain the extravasated

fluid must move within the narrow extracellular space, which further enhances the oedema.

Microvascular proliferation is a hallmark of glioblastomas, but it can also be found in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. Microvascular proliferation is not a categorical sign of malignancy, however. It may be present in benign pilocytic astrocytomas without any prognostic significance. A dramatic shift in tumour angiogenesis is seen in the transition from low-grade and anaplastic astrocytomas to glioblastomas. The most common feature of microvascular proliferation is capillary tufts resembling glomeruli in the kidney (Figure 4). Previously, these glomeruloid vessel structures were called endothelial cell proliferation. However, because they consist of both multilayered endothelial cells and pericytes/smooth muscle cells (Wesseling et al., 1995), they were renamed microvascular proliferation.

## Molecular mechanisms of angiogenesis

The molecular basis of glioma angiogenesis is complex and several mechanisms have been introduced. Angiogenesis in gliomas is driven by hypoxia and it is mediated by hypoxia inducible factor (HIF-1), which is a transcription factor se-



Figure 4 Vascular patterns of gliomas. A, dense network of capillaries in oligodendroglioma. B, highly vascular glioblastoma with plump, multilayered endothelial cells. C and D, microvascular proliferation of glioblastoma with glomeruloid structures.

creted by pseudopalisading tumour cells of glioblastoma (Fischer et al., 2005). HIF-1 consists of two subunits HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-1 $\beta$ . HIF-1 regulates the transcription of several genes that are involved in angiogenesis, tumour cell growth and invasion (Semenza, 2010). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression of tumour cells is activated by HIF-1 (Semenza, 2010).

platelet-derived VEGF and growth factor (PDGF) are key angiogenic mediators in glioblastomas. VEGF (or VEGF-A) belongs to the growth factor family with four other members: placenta growth factor (PIGF), VEGF-B, VEGF-C and VEGF-D (Lohela et al., 2009). VEGF and PDGF are produced by perinecrotic tumour cells and induce angiogenesis (Hermanson et al., 1992; Plate et al., 1992). VEGF increases vascular permeability of both existing and newly formed vessels (Fischer et al., 2005). VEGF is highly expressed in malignant gliomas (Plate et al., 1992; Hatva et al., 1995) and correlates with microvessel density of the tumours (Schmidt et al., 1999).

VEGFR 1 and 2 are tyrosine kinase receptors of VEGF, which are expressed in endothelial cells of high-grade gliomas, but not in normal brain endothelium (Plate et al., 1994). VEGF secreted by tumour cells binds to VEGFR2 on the endothelial cells, resulting in the paracrine signalling loop that stimulates endothelial cell growth and division (Norden et al., 2009).

The PDGF signalling pathway is involved in tumourigenesis and in the progression of gliomas by promoting cell proliferation and angiogenesis. The PDGF family consists of four ligands PDGFA-D and their receptors PDGFRA and PDGFRB (Shih and Holland, 2006). PDGFB and its receptor PDGFRB, are expressed in hyperplastic endothelial cells in glioblastoma (Hermansson et al., 1988; Hermanson et al., 1992). The angiogenic effect of PDGFB is at least partly mediated by the upregulation of VEGF expression (Guo et al., 2003).

Alternative mechanisms for vascularisation have been found in a subset of glioblastomas. In the experimental glioma model, the tumour may co-opt existing host vessels. The co-opted vasculature supports the tumour until the neoangiogenesis starts (Holash et al., 1999). In vasculogenic mimicry, glioblastoma cells presenting stem cell properties may express endothelium-associated genes and form blood vessels de novo (El Hallani et al., 2010). Recent studies have shown that endothelial cells of glioblastomas harbour the same genetic alterations with tumour cells such as EGFR amplification (Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010). These results suggest that a subpopulation of endothelial cells of glioblastoma originate from tumour stem-like cells.

# Diagnostics and treatment of gliomas

#### Magnetic resonance imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging is currently the method of choice in brain tumour imaging. MRI is an invaluable tool in preoperative diagnostics and anatomical localization of gliomas as well as in the planning of the surgical treatment. Postoperatively MRI is utilized in planning radiotherapy, assessing response to treatment and tumour progression (Henson et al., 2005).

MRI with contrast medium is the most sensitive non-invasive diagnostic method in neuro-oncology (Jenkinson et al., 2007). Administration of intravenous paramagnetic gadolinium-DTPA improves contrast in MR imaging and increases sensitivity in brain tumour diagnostics (Felix et al., 1985; Brant-Zawadzki et al., 1986). Contrast-enhanced MRI is useful in differentiating tumours from other pathological processes of the CNS (Essig et al., 2006).

The intact blood-brain-barrier is impermeable to water-soluble gadolinium chelates, and it prevents the access of contrast medium into brain tissue (Neuwelt, 2004). Therefore, contrast enhancement in MRI is a sign of a disrupted blood-brainbarrier reflecting the tumourinduced abnormal neovascularisation (Essig et al., 2006).

MRI characteristics correlate with the WHO grade of diffuse gliomas (Henson et al., 2005; Jenkinson et al., 2007). In low-grade gliomas, MRI usually shows a mildly expansive lesion without contrast enhancement or substantial oedema. In anaplastic grade III tumours, there is characteristically more oedema and expansion into the surrounding brain with patchy areas of gadolinium enhancement. The typical MRI appearance of glioblastoma shows irregular or ring-like contrast enhancement with a central non-enhancing area corresponding to necrosis. Glioblastomas produce a pronounced mass effect and vasogenic oedema as well. Although gadolinium enhancement is associated with anaplastic features in gliomas, up to one third of the non-enhancing gliomas are histologically malignant (Barker et al., 1997; Scott et al., 2002). Furthermore, benign pilocytic astrocytomas often show intense contrast enhancement reflecting the microvascular proliferation that is an exceptional feature in a benign astrocytoma (Zimmerman and Bilaniuk, 2009).

Functional MRI techniques can be utilised preoperatively to identify eloquent brain areas (Vlieger et al., 2004). The functional information can be applied for planning neurosurgical operations in order to minimize damage to eloquent brain regions.

The association between MRI characteristics and molecular profiles of gliomas have been reported recently. Oligodendrogliomas that harbour the 1p/19q deletion are infrequently located in temporal lobes and show indistinct borders in MRI (Zlatescu et al., 2001; Megyesi et al., 2004; Jenkinson et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2011). Secondly, fuzzy tumour borders in the MRI of glioblastomas may predict EGFR amplification at the molecular level (Aghi et al., 2005). Furthermore, the volume ratio of contrast enhancement and tumour necrosis in MRI correlates with EGFR overexpression in glioblastomas (Diehn et al., 2008).

#### Positron emission tomography

emission tomography Positron (PET) is an imaging method that can be used to measure brain metabolism. PET detects radionuclidelabelled tracer molecules such as <sup>[18</sup>F]fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) and <sup>[11</sup>C]methionine (MET), which reflect glucose and amino acid uptake of the brain tissue, respectively (Minn, 2005). The advantage of PET in tumour imaging is based on enhanced energy metabolism of cancer cells compared to normal tissue. However, the basal level of glucose metabolism in brain is high, resulting in a low signal-background ratio in FDG-PET. Generally, high-grade gliomas show increased glucose metabolism in PET, while low-grade gliomas are hypometabolic (Di Chiro, 1987; Padma et al., 2003).

Background uptake of amino acid tracers in normal brain tissue is low, which allows high contrast for tumour uptake (Jager et al., 2001). MET uptake in PET is associated with glioma grade and survival (Ogawa et al., 1993; Nuutinen et al., 2000; De Witte et al., 2001). FDG and MET uptake in brain tumours is independent of blood-brain-barrier disruption, which is advantageous in tumour imaging (Minn, 2005). A recent study suggests that PET can be used to detect glioma cell invasion into white matter tracts, which were visualised by diffusion tensor MRI (Stadlbauer et al., 2009).

Currently, the main indications for PET in the imaging of gliomas are detecting tumour recurrence and guiding diagnostic biopsy site. PET using FDG or MET is more sensitive than standard MRI to detect glioma recurrence (Minn, 2005). However, specificity of PET in differentiating between radiation injury and true recurrence is 75% (Dhermain et al., 2010). PET can be used to direct biopsy to hypermetabolic tumour tissue and avoid reactive changes on the tumour edge (Klasner et al., 2010).

#### **Molecular diagnostics**

Genetic alterations are important steps in gliomagenesis as well as biomarkers in diagnostics. Traditionally, genetics of gliomas have been studied by basic cytogenetic methods like G band karyotyping and fluorescence in situ hybridisation (FISH). Modern techniques for studying genetic aberrations include whole genome karyotyping by comparative genomic hybridisation (CGH) and array-based CGH (aCGH) (Kallioniemi et al., 1992; Pinkel et al., 1998).

Currently, testing of 1p/19q deletions by either FISH or aCGH is recommended for oligodendroglial tumours to complement histopathological diagnosis and to add prognostic information of the tumour (Yip et al., 2008; Jansen et al., 2010). The EGFR amplification assay is a useful diagnostic aid in small tumour biopsies with only few infiltrating neoplastic cells, where histopathological criteria alone do not allow diagnosis of malignant glioma. Identification of tumour cells with EGFR amplification by FISH (Mott et al., 2008) or by chromogenic in situ hybridisation (CISH) (Järvelä et al., 2006) can be used as a surrogate marker for high-grade astrocytoma.
The methylation status of the MGMT promoter provides prognostic information of glioblastomas. However, the lack of standardised methods has inhibited the wide use of MGMT testing in clinical neuropathology (von Deimling et al., 2011). Furthermore, it is not yet known which CpG sites are relevant for silencing of MGMT transcription (Riemenschneider et al., 2010).

An immunohistochemical assay of the p.R132H IDH1 mutation may be helpful in differential diagnostics of diffuse gliomas. Positive IDH1 immunostaining can rule out pilocytic astrocytomas and ependymomas, which lack IDH1 mutations (Capper et al., 2010). Moreover, IDH1 immunohistochemistry helps in the discrimination of oligodendrogliomas from tumours with similar morphology, such as central neurocytomas and dysembryoplastic neuroepithelial tumours (Capper et al., 2011). Assessment of IDH1 and p53 immunohistochemistry is useful differentiating reactive gliosis in from astrocytoma, which is a common diagnostic problem in surgical pathology (Camelo-Piragua et al., 2011). However, negative staining with IDH1 antibody to mutant p.R132H does not rule out other IDH1 mutations that are present in less than 10% of mutated cases or rare IDH2 mutation.

#### Treatment of gliomas

#### Surgery

The current treatment options for diffuse gliomas include surgical re-

section, radiotherapy and chemotherapy (Tabatabai et al., 2010). The goals for surgical resection are decreasing the tumour mass, lowering intracranial pressure and confirming the diagnosis. Surgical treatment is not curative because of the infiltrative nature of diffuse gliomas. The impact of the extent of surgical resection on patient survival has been controversial (Sanai and Berger, 2008). A recent meta-analysis indicates that cytoreductive resection of malignat glioma is associated with better survival as compared to biopsy (Tsitlakidis et al., 2010). However, in elderly patients the benefit from open surgery seems to be limited (Vuorinen et al., 2003). If surgical resection is not feasible because of tumour location, a stereotactic biopsy should be performed to obtain tissue for histopathological diagnostics and molecular studies (Wen and Kesari, 2008; Soffietti et al., 2010).

#### Radiotherapy

Radiotherapy is an effective treatment of malignant gliomas and prolongs the survival of the patients (Walker et al., 1978). The standard for anaplastic therapy gliomas (WHO grade III) consists of adjuvant radiotherapy after surgery (Stupp et al., 2010). The total dose of focal radiotherapy for malignant gliomas is 50-60 Gy (Laperriere et al., 2002; Wen and Kesari, 2008). In low-grade gliomas, radiotherapy extends the patients' progression-free period, but does not affect their overall survival (van den Bent et al., 2005). Adjuvant radiotherapy is indicated for low-grade glioma patients with unfavourable prognostic factors such as incomplete surgical resection or advanced age (Soffietti et al., 2010). Radiotherapy may induce long-term adverse reactions including cognitive impairment and leukoencephalopathy (Surma-aho et al., 2001).

#### Chemotherapy

The blood-brain barrier restricts the entry of many chemotherapeutic agents into the CNS. In high-grade gliomas, the blood-brain-barrier is often partially disrupted due to neoangiogenesis of the tumour, which may facilitate drug delivery to the tumour (Muldoon et al., 2007).

The main chemotherapeutic agents currently used in treatment of gliomas are alkylating drugs such as temozolomide, lomustine (CCNU 1-(2-Chloroethyl)-3-Cyclohexyl-1-

Nitrosourea) and procarbazine, which are able to cross the blood-

brain-barrier (Rao and Buckner, 2004). Combined treatment with procarbazine, CCNU and vincristine (PCV chemotherapy) is particularly effective in anaplastic oligodendrogliomas with 1p/19q deletion (Cairncross et al., 1998).

In low-grade gliomas, chemotherapy is mainly used for tumour recurrences after surgical resection and radiotherapy (Soffietti et al., 2010). Adjuvant PCV chemotherapy does not prolong survival of patients with anaplastic oligodendroglial tumour compared to radiotherapy alone (Cairncross et al., 2006; van den Bent et al., 2006). Concomitant chemotherapy and radiation (chemocurrently radiotherapy) are the treatments of choice for glioblastoma. Patients who receive concomitant temozolomide and radiotherapy have significantly longer survival compared to patients with radiotherapy alone (median survival 14.6 vs. 12.1 months) (Stupp et al., 2009).

# AIMS OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this thesis was to study molecular alterations involved in glioma progression. Therefore, we collected a retrospective series of gliomas from patients who had been operated on for glioma and one or more recurrences.

Specifically, we studied:

- 1. the correlation of tumour contrast enhancement in MRI with microvessel density and cell proliferation in gliomas (study I)
- 2. the genetic alterations and proteins related to recurrence and progression of gliomas (studies II-IV)
- 3. the molecular changes in the longitudinal course of individual gliomas (studies II-IV)

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Tissue samples**

This retrospective study included diffuse gliomas diagnosed at the Department of Pathology, University of Helsinki and HUSLAB, Helsinki, Finland between 1979 and 2000. All patients were operated on at the Department of Neurosurgery, Helsinki University Central Hospital, Helsinki, Finland. Formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded tumour samples were retrieved from the archive, and the histopathological diagnoses were reviewed by the author and experienced neuropathologist (A.P.). All tumours were diagnosed according to the latest WHO classification at the time of the study (Kleihues et al., 1993; Kleihues and Cavenee, 2000; Louis et al., 2007).

Primary supratentorial astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas, grade II-IV, from 62 patients were included in study I. Studies II and IV included 229 primary and recurrent astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas, grade II-IV, from 113 patients. Study III included primary and recurrent astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas, grade II-IV, from 87 patients.

# Magnetic resonance imaging (study I)

Magnetic resonance imaging of the 62 patients in study I was performed preoperatively using a Magnetom 42 SP 1.0 Tesla imager (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany). Sagittal T1-weighted localizing images, unenhanced T1-, T2- and proton-weighted spin echo images were obtained. The contrast agent gadopentetate dimeglumine (Magnevist, Schering AG, Berlin, Germany) was injected intravenously 0.1 mmol/kg, and axial T1-weighted spin echo images were repeated after 5-10 minutes. Contrast enhancement was studied in T1-weighted postcontrast images by two radiologists. Any detectable contrast enhancement of the tumour was considered positive.

#### Immunohistochemistry

Tissue microarray (TMA) blocks were prepared for studies II-IV with a manual tissue array instrument (Beecher Instruments, Sun Prairie, WI, USA). A representative area of the tumour was selected in H&Estained sections, and 1-3 tissue cylinders with a 0.6 mm diameter were obtained from each tumour. Fourmicrometer sections (5  $\mu$ m in study III) were cut from TMA blocks and conventional paraffin blocks for immunohistochemistry.

The antibodies used in immunohistochemical studies are summarized in Table 2. In study I, capillary endothelium was highlighted by polyclonal antibody against factor VIII-related antigen (FVIII, Dako, Glostrup, Denmark, dilution 1:2000). The slides were pretreated

Antibody	Clonality	Host	Dilution	Pretreatment	Study
Factor VIII	Polyclonal	Rabbit	1:2000	Pepsin	I
MIB-1 (Ki-67 )	Monoclonal	Mouse	1:50	Heating	I
Ezrin	Monoclonal	Mouse	1:2000	Heating	П
KIT (CD117)	Polyclonal	Rabbit	1:300	Heating	III
VEGFR2 (Flk-1)	Polyclonal	Rabbit	n.a.	Heating	Ш
EGFR	Monoclonal	Mouse	1:150	Heating	III
p53	Monoclonal	Mouse	1:500	Heating	III
Nestin	Monoclonal	Mouse	1:500	Heating	III
Prominin 1 (CD133)	Monoclonal	Mouse	1:10	Heating	III
COX-2	Monoclonal	Mouse	1:100	Heating	IV
HuR	Monoclonal	Mouse	1:20000	Heating	IV

Table 2Antibodies used in immunohistochemical studies.

with pepsin and the primary antibody was detected using the Vectastain Elite ABC Kit (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Tumour cell proliferation was detected by monoclonal antibody MIB-1/Ki-67 (Immunotech S.A., Marseille, France, dilution 1:50). Antigen retrieval was performed in a microwave oven (15 min. in 10mM citrate buffer). A histostain-SP kit (Zymed Laboratories Inc., San Francisco, CA) was used to visualize the primary antibody.

In study II, monoclonal antibody against human ezrin was used (clone 3C12, dilution 1:2000) (Böhling et al., 1996). The monoclonal antibody, raised against the carboxyterminal part of ezrin (amino acids 362 to 585), detects a single 80 kDa band compatible with ezrin in immunoblotting. Antigen retrieval was performed in a microwave oven (10 min. in 10mM citrate buffer). The slides were stained using a LabVision Autostainer automatic immunostaining device and UltraVision detection kit (Lab Vision Inc., Fremont, CA).

In study III, the following antibodies were used: polyclonal KIT/CD117 antibody (A 4502, Dako, Glostrup, Denmark, dilution 1:300), monoclonal EGFR antibody (NCL-EGFR, Novocastra Laboratories Ltd., Newcastle, United Kingdom, dilution 1:150), monoclonal p53 antibody (NCL-p53-D07, Novocastra Laboratories Ltd., Newcastle, United Kingdom, dilution 1:500) and polyclonal VEGFR2 antibody (Flk-1/ VEGFR2 Ab-1, NeoMarkers, LabVision Corp., Fremont, CA). Antigen retrieval for KIT staining was performed in a microwave oven (7 min and  $3 \times 5$  min in Tris-EDTA buffer, pH 9.0). Autoclave heating was used as pretreatment for EGFR and p53 antibodies (120°C, 2 min in 1× Reveal buffer; Biocare Medical, Creek, CA) and for Walnut VEGFR2 (120°C, 2 min in a10 mM citrate buffer, pH 6.0). The binding of KIT antibody was detected with a Dako EnVision detection kit (Peroxidase/DAB, rabbit/mouse, Dako). The EGFR, p53 and VEGFR2 antibodies were visualized with Powervision+ Poly-HRP detection kit (DPVB+110DAB, ImmunoVision Technologies Co., Daly City, CA).

In study IV, monoclonal antibodies against COX-2 (dilution 1:100) and HuR (dilution 1:20000, clone 19F12) were used. For antigen retrieval, the sections were pretreated in for 20 min at 85°C in Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.5). Immunostainings were performed with a Lab Vision Autostainer 480 and Dako REAL EnVision detection kit. All tissue sections were counterstained with hematoxylin.

#### Scoring of immunohistochemical stainings

In study I, microvessel density was measured from the most vascularised area of the tumour. The number FVIII positive vessels of was counted from three microscopic fields (1.3 mm<sup>2</sup> each). The average of three counts was considered as the vascular density of the tumour. In cases of the multiluminal hyperplastic vessel, each lumen was considered as one capillary. The cell proliferation rate was measured from the most proliferative area of the tumour. The cell proliferation index was defined as a percentage of MIB-1-positive tumour cells. At least 500 tumour cells were analysed in each tumour.

In study II, two observers (the author and O.C.) evaluated ezrin expression independently. Immunostaining was graded from 0 to 3 using these ranges: 0%, 1-30%, 31-70% and >70% positive tumour

cells respectively. Grading of the two observers was averaged.

In study III, the KIT, EGFR, p53, VEGFR2, nestin and prominin-1 immunostainings were graded semiquantitatively as either negative (-), faintly positive (+), moderately positive (++) or strongly positive (+++).

In study IV, granular cytoplasmic staining with COX-2 antibody was considered positive and scored as low (0-20% of tumour cells) or high (>20% of tumour cells). HuR staining was scored as negative (only nuclear staining in tumour cells) or positive (cytoplasmic staining in tumour cells).

## Immunoblotting (study II)

Ezrin expression was confirmed by an immunoblotting assay of eight gliomas. Fresh tumour samples were snap frozen and stored in liquid nitrogen. Tumour samples were homogenized in RIPA buffer and protein concentration was measured. Equal amounts of protein (30 µg) were separated with SDS-PAGE electrophoresis in 10% polyacrylamide gel and blotted on nitrocellulose sheet. The filter was blocked by incubating overnight in non-fat milk protein and incubated with monoclonal ezrin antibody (clone 3C12, dilution 1:1000) for 1 h. Anti-actin antibody was used to control the loaded protein in the gel. The primary antibody was detected using an ECL kit (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Buckinghamshire, England).

#### Chromogenic in situ hybridisation and fluorescence in situ hybridisation (study III)

In study III, bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) probes were used to study gene copy numbers of KIT (clone RP11-586A2), PDGFRA (RP11-231C18), VEGFR2 (RP11-662M13) and EGFR (RP11-815K24) (Invitrogen Ltd, Paisley, UK). The BAC DNA was isolated and labelled with a DIG-Nick translation mix (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Pretreatment for in situ hybridisation was performed in a microwave oven (92°C, 10 min in 0.1 M Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.0) and by enzymatic digestion (Digest-All 3 solution, Zymed, Inc., South San Francisco, CA). The probes were applied onto the slides, sections were denatured and hybridisation was done overnight at 37°C. The probes were detected with mouse anti-digoxigenin antibody (dilution 1:300; Roche Biochemicals, Mannheim, Germany) and a Powervision+ kit (ImmunoVision Technologies). The tissue sections were counterstained with hematoxylin.

Chromogenic in situ hybridisation showed weak or absent KIT, PDGFRA or VEGFR2 signals in 13 tumours. Therefore, fluorescence in situ hybridisation was performed to study gene copy numbers in those tumours. The BAC DNA probes described earlier were labelled with a DIG-Nick and BIOTIN-Nick translation mix (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). Centromeric probes for chromosomes 4 and 7 (CEP 4 and CEP 7, Vysis Inc., Downers Drive, IL) were used as controls. After hybridisation, the probes were detected immunochemically with avidinfluorescein isothiocyanate and antidigoxigenin rhodamine. Slides were counterstained with DAPI in antifade solution and viewed under a fluorescence microscope.

Gene amplification was defined as 6 or more hybridisation signals per nucleus. Tumours with 3-5 signals were considered aneuploid.

# Screening of p53 gene mutations (study III)

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR), denaturing high-performance liquid chromatography (DHPLC) and DNA-sequencing methods were used for studying p53 mutations. These methods are described in detail in the original publication.

#### Statistical analysis

Associations between categorical variables were studied using the  $\chi^2$ test and Fischer's exact test. Differences of non-normally distributed variables between two or more groups were compared with the nonparametric Mann-Whitney U test and Kruskall-Wallis test. Paired observations of primary and recurrent gliomas were studied using the Wilcoxon signed rank test. Level of interobserver agreement was assessed by kappa statistics. The relationship between continuous variables was studied using simple linear regression and Spearman rank correlation. Survival analysis was performed using the Kaplan-Meier method and survival curves were compared using the log-rank test. Multivariate survival analysis was performed using Cox proportional hazards model. The statistical significance level was set at 5%. Statistical analysis was performed using Statview (SAS Institute Inc., San Francisco, CA) and SPSS (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) statistical software.

#### Approvals

This study was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa and the National Supervisory Authority for Welfare and Health.

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### MRI enhancement and histological features of gliomas (study I)

We studied the correlation between MRI contrast enhancement and histological characteristics of 62 diffuse gliomas (Table 3). Contrast enhancement in MRI was present in 45 of 62 (73%) gliomas. Enhancement was seen in 23 of 38 (61%) lowgrade gliomas, in 11 of 13 (85%) anaplastic gliomas and in all 11 glioblastomas. Contrast enhancement in MRI was significantly associated with higher tumour grade in the whole tumour group (p=0.005)and in the astrocytoma subgroup (n=51, p=0.006), but not in the oligodendroglial tumours.

Grading of astrocytomas by MRI

characteristics has been previously studied by Asari et al. (Asari et al., 1994). They developed MRI scoring that was based on nine criteria: 1) tumour heterogeneity, 2) cyst formation or necrosis, 3) haemorrhage, 4) tumour crossing the midline, 5) oedema and/or mass effect, 6) definition of border, 7) flow void, 8) degree of contrast enhancement and 9) heterogeneity of contrast enhancement. Using this MRI scoring they could differentiate low-grade and high-grade astrocytomas. Degree and heterogeneity of contrast enhancement were related to histological grade by multiple regression analysis (Asari et al., 1994). The MRI scoring developed by Asari et al. was later used in non-invasive grading of gliomas in two other studies (Rie-

		Contrast er	hancement
Tumour histology and grade	Ν	Yes	No
Astrocytoma			
Grade II	31	19	12
Grade III	9	8	1
Grade IV	11	11	0
Oligodendroglioma			
Grade II	4	3	1
Grade III	3	2	1
Oligoastrocytoma			
Grade II	3	1	2
Grade III	1	1	0
Total	62	45	17

Table 3Tumour histology, WHO grade and contrast enhance-<br/>ment of 62 gliomas (study I).

mann et al., 2002; Kumar et al., 2006). In these studies, there was a significant difference in MRI score between low-grade and high-grade gliomas. Furthermore, the degree of contrast enhancement was one of the criteria that were significantly associated with tumour grade (Riemann et al., 2002; Kumar et al., 2006). Our results are in congruence with an earlier study by Aronen et al., where contrast enhancement in MRI imaging was associated with histological grade of diffuse gliomas (Aronen et al., 1994). One must keep in mind, though, that even benign pilocytic astrocytomas commonly show contrast enhancement in MRI (Zimmerman and Bilaniuk, 2009). However, pilocytic astrocytomas are usually sharply demarcated, whereas diffuse gliomas are ill-defined in MRI.

Nonenhancing tumours should not be considered as low-grade merely based on their enhancement pattern. In our series, 2 of 17 (12%) nonenhancing gliomas were malignant (i.e. grade III-IV). In other studies, 9-40% of nonenhancing tumours were histologically malignant (Barker et al., 1997; Ginsberg et al., 1998; Scott et al., 2002).

Next, we studied the correlation of MRI contrast enhancement with endothelial proliferation, which is a hallmark of glioblastomas and characteristic of anaplastic oligodendrogliomas as well. Tumour endothelial proliferation was significantly associated with contrast enhancement in MRI (p=0.003). All tumours (n=16) with endothelial proliferation in histological sections showed contrast enhancement. This finding has been confirmed by Reiche et al., who studied oligodendrogliomas and found a significant association between contrast enhancement and tumour grade as well as endothelial proliferation (Reiche et al., 2002). Endothelial proliferation is not a *sine qua non* of contrast enhancement, however. We detected contrast enhancement in 63% of gliomas that did not have endothelial proliferation in histology.

#### Correlation of MRI enhancement, tumour cell proliferation, vascular density and tumour grade (study I)

In the present study, the mean vascular density (i.e. the number of capillaries per 1.3 mm<sup>2</sup> microscopic field) was 53.2 in grade II, 98.9 in grade III and 149.8 in grade IV gliomas (p=0.001). The correlation between vascular density and tumour grade was found also in the subgroup (n=45) that showed contrast enhancement in MRI (p=0.0017).

Angiogenesis is necessary for tumour growth. Without the formaof tion new vessels and establishment of perfusion, a tumour could not exceed a diameter of 2-3 mm (Folkman, 1971). Intra-tumoural microvessel density is a reliable method for measuring angiogenic activity of solid tumours (Hasan et al., 2002). Immunohistochemically determined microvessel density is an independent prognostic factor in breast cancer (Weidner et al., 1992) and in several other epithelial cancers as reviewed by Hasan and coworkers (Hasan et al., 2002).

Our results are in line with previous studies that found an association between microvessel density and tumour grade in astrocytomas (Leon et al., 1996; Wesseling et al., 1998). This association has been confirmed in later studies as well (Korkolopoulou et al., 2002; Quon et al., 2010). Furthermore, microvessel density is an independent prognostic factor in astrocytomas (Leon et al., 1996; Abdulrauf et al., 1998; Birlik et al., 2006).

In our study, the immunohistochemically assessed microvessel density was significantly higher in the tumours that showed MRI contrast enhancement compared to tumours with no enhancement (mean 47.9 vs. 92.0, p=0.01). This finding most likely reflects a defective bloodbrain-barrier in newly formed blood vessels. Contrast enhancement in MRI is caused by the accumulation of intravenously administered gadolinium-containing contrast material in the interstitial space (Jayaraman and Boxerman, 2009). In a normal brain, the blood-brain-barrier of the capillaries prevents the entrance of water-soluble contrast material in the interstitium. The current understanding is that contrast enhancement in MRI is due to defective capillaries rather than the active destruction of the blood-brain-barrier of the existing vessels (Jayaraman and Boxerman, 2009). Neoangiogenesis of gliomas causes the formation of capillaries that have fenestrated bloodbrain-barrier, which subsequently leads to the interstitial accumulation of contrast material in MRI.

In our study, there was a significant difference in the immunohistochemically measured cell proliferation index between the nonenhancing and enhancing gliomas (mean 2.0% vs. 8.1%, p<0.001). Association between tumour enhancement and proliferation index may simply reflect that both variables are associated with the histological grade of the tumour. However, this result suggests that preoperative conventional MRI provides information on proliferation activity of the tumour. The fact that MRI contrast enhancement may be used as a non-invasive predictor of cell proliferation is clinically interesting, because the immunohistochemically measured Ki-67 index is a widely used ancillary diagnostic method in approximating the clinical behaviour of gliomas. Previously, Aronen and co-workers have studied proliferative activity and MRI enhancement in diffuse gliomas. They found that mitotic activity of gliomas was associated with contrast enhancement in MRI (Aronen et al., 1994).

In their recent review Alexiou et al. have evaluated non-invasive methods for assessment of glioma proliferation (Alexiou et al., 2010). The imaging modalities that have been used for studying glioma proliferation in vivo include MRI, PET and single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT). Alexiou et al. conclude that proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), which provides information on the metabolic status of tumour tissue, is a promising tool for the non-invasive assessment of glioma proliferation.

In the present study, vascular density correlated positively with tumour cell proliferation of gliomas (r=0.51, p<0.0001). This association is not surprising because the cell proliferation index, as measured by Ki-67 (MIB-1) immunohistochemistry, correlates positively with glioma grade (Montine et al., 1994; Sallinen et al., 1994; Giannini et al., 1999; Sallinen et al., 2000). It has been suggested that the Ki-67 index could be included in the grading criteria of gliomas in the future (Kros, 2011).

Functional MRI techniques can be used to characterise brain tumours more accurately than conventional contrast-enhanced MRI. Cerebral blood volume (CBV) can be measured in vivo by functional MRI techniques (Belliveau et al., 1991). CBV studied by MR imaging can provide information on angiogenesis and proliferation of gliomas as well. In high-grade gliomas CBV is significantly elevated compared to low-grade gliomas (Maia et al., 2005). Furthermore, CBV correlates with tumour vascularity and mitotic activity of gliomas (Aronen et al., 1994) as well as with metabolic activity and angiogenesis of gliomas (Aronen et al., 2000). Callot et al. found an association between CBV and endothelial hyperplasia in low-grade gliomas (Callot et al., 2007).

#### Ezrin is expressed in astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas (study II)

We studied ezrin expression by immunohistochemistry in 229 primary and recurrent gliomas of 113 patients. Characteristics of the studied tumours are presented in Table 4. Ezrin expression was observed in both astrocytic and oligodendroglial tumours by immunohistochemistry and immunoblotting. The mean ezrin immunoreactivity score was 2.5 in astrocytomas, 2.2 in oligoastrocytomas and 2.1 in oligodendrogliomas Oligodendrogliomas (p=0.006).showed moderate staining in tumour cells and more intensive reactivity in astrocytic cells within the tumour. Ezrin immunoreactivity was associated with WHO grade in astrocytomas (mean 2.4 in grade II vs. 2.4 in grade III vs. 2.6 in grade IV, p=0.04) but not in oligodendrogliomas or oligoastrocytomas. In pairwise comparison, ezrin expression was significantly higher in glioblastomas than in grade II astrocytomas (p=0.04, Mann-Whiney test with Bonferroni correction). Differences between grade II vs. III and grade III vs. IV were not significant.

Ezrin expression was further confirmed by immunoblotting of frozen tumour samples in a subset of (2 astrocytomas, 8 gliomas 2 glioblastomas and 4 oligodendrogliomas). Immunoblotting for ezrin was positive in 3 oligodendrogliomas and in 1 glioblastoma. One lowgrade astrocytoma and one anaplastic oligodendroglioma with negative immunoblotting were weakly positive for ezrin by immunohistochemistry. The other two tumours with negative immunoblotting were anaplastic astrocytoma and glioblastoma. These tumours showed moderate or high positivity bv immunohistochemistry. Negative

	First	diagnosis	Re	currence
		Ezrin score		Ezrin score
Tumour histology and grade	Ν	mean (SD)	Ν	mean (SD)
Astrocytoma				
Grade II	42	2.4 (0.5)	16	2.5 (0.6)
Grade III	20	2.2 (0.7)	22	2.6 (0.5)
Glioblastoma, primary	14	2.6 (0.5)	13	2.8 (0.4)
Glioblastoma, secondary	n.a.	n.a.	24	2.6 (0.5)
Oligodendroglioma				
Grade II	16	2.2 (0.6)	5	2.0 (0.4)
Grade III	8	2.1 (0.8)	15	2.0 (0.7)
Oligoastrocytoma				
Grade II	6	2.0 (0.5)	6	2.3 (0.4)
Grade III	4	2.0 (0.8)	18	2.4 (0.6)
Total	110		119	

# Table 4Tumour histology, WHO grade and ezrin immunoreactivity<br/>(study II).

SD standard deviation, n.a. not applicable

immunoblotting result may be due to tissue sampling, i.e. intratumoural heterogeneity and/or focal necrosis.

Our results are in line with Geiger et al., who found a positive correlation between ezrin expression and WHO grade in 74 diffuse astrocytomas grade II-IV (Geiger et al., 2000). However, 27 oligodendrogliomas were almost completely negative in ezrin immunohistochemistry in the series by Geiger et al. They found only a few positive astrocytic cells in the ezrin staining of oligodendrogliomas. The difference in the staining pattern in oligodendroglial tumours between the studies may be due to different antigen retrieval methods. We used heatinduced antigen retrieval, which improves the reactivity of the 3C12 antibody in paraffin sections. Our results suggest that ezrin is linked to the malignant progression of astrocytomas. However, ezrin immunohistochemistry may not be directly applicable to the grading of gliomas because of considerable overlapping in ezrin scores between low-grade and high-grade gliomas.

In a recent proteome-wide profiling of low-grade oligoastrocytomas, ezrin was one of the proteins differentially expressed in tumours with intact vs. deleted chromosome arms 1p and 19q (Grzendowski et al., 2010). Grzendowski et al. found that ezrin expression was significantly higher in tumours with intact chromosomes 1p and 19q. Furthermore, they studied the hypermethylation of CpG islands of the ezrin gene and found that hypermethylation was associated with 1p/19q deletion. However, hypermethylation of CpG islands did not decrease ezrin expression at the mRNA level to a statistically significant degree (Grzendowski et al., 2010). Grzendowski et al. did not include survival analysis in their study of oligoastrocytomas. Nevertheless, it is interesting that epigenetic silencing by hypermethylation of the ezrin gene is associated with 1p/19q deletion, which is a marker of favourable prognosis in oligodendroglial tumours (Grzendowski et al., 2010).

#### Ezrin and patient outcome in gliomas (study II)

In the present study, ezrin expression was significantly higher in tumour recurrences (mean ezrin score 2.5 vs. 2.3, p=0.02), suggesting that ezrin is involved in the progression of gliomas. High ezrin expression of primary tumours was associated with shorter recurrence-free time (median 3.6 vs. 4.1 vs. 2.5 in low, intermediate and high ezrin score respectively, p<0.05) and poor overall survival (median 9.2 vs. 7.7. vs. 4.5 years, p < 0.05) in the whole tumour material. The non-linear relationship between ezrin score and recurrencefree time may be partly explained by the small number of cases in the low ezrin group (n=9). High ezrin expression was also a negative prognostic factor for overall survival in the astrocytoma subgroup (p=0.03)but not in oligodendroglial tumours. However, in multivariate analysis, only WHO grade, histological tumour type and patient age were independent prognostic factors. Ezrin expression was not independently associated with patient prognosis probably due to its correlation with tumour grade.

Invasion and migration in brain tissue are characteristic of glioma cells. Destruction of brain structures and deterioration of neurological function due to infiltration of glioma cells are eventually fatal to the patient. Tumour cells of diffuse gliomas typically accumulate in subpial areas and perineuronally, and the preferentially invade along cells white matter tracts (secondary structures of Scherer). There is experimental evidence that ezrin is linked to glioma cell migration in the brain. Wick and co-workers transfected mutant ezrin plasmids into four glioma cell lines that originally expressed wild-type ezrin (Wick et al., 2001). Expression of mutant ezrin acted in a dominant negative manner in malignant glioma cells and inhibited their migration in vitro. Furthermore, when human glioma cells expressing a dominant-negative ezrin were xenografted in mouse brain they produced smaller tumours with longer survival time than controls (Wick et al., 2001). Similar results of the role of ezrin in tumour cell motility and invasion have been reported in medulloblastoma cells (Osawa et al., 2009).

# EGFR amplification in gliomas (study III)

In the present study, the EGFR amplification rate in secondary glioblastomas was 14% in the 14 informative cases (Table 5). Our results are well in line with Järvelä and co-workers, who studied EGFR amplification in 338 grade II-IV astrocytomas by CISH (Järvelä et al., 2006). In their material, EGFR amplification was present in 16% of secondary glioblastomas.

EGFR amplification is a genetic hallmark of primary glioblastomas. In a previous study, we found EGFR amplification in half of primary glioblastomas (Joensuu et al., 2005). In a population-based study, the EGFR amplification frequency of glioblastomas was a little lower (36%) and secondary glioblastomas carried EGFR amplification in less than 10% of tumours (Ohgaki et al., 2004).

In the present study, the frequency of EGFR amplification in anaplastic astrocytomas was 12% in primary tumours and 6% in recurrent tumours. We also detected EGFR amplification in two recurrent low-grade astrocytomas that did not show amplification at first diagnosis (Figure 5, cases 33 and 70). However, these two astrocytomas did not progress at histological level; both primary and recurrent tumours were WHO grade II. Järvelä et al. found EGFR amplification in 4% of grade II and in 21% of grade III astrocytomas (Järvelä et al., 2006).

In our series, we found EGFR amplification in one (n=4) primary anaplastic oligoastrocytoma and in one (n=4) recurrent low-grade oligodendroglioma. EGFR amplification is rare in low-grade oligodendroglial tumours. Fallon et al. studied 138 oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas by FISH and found only one EGFR amplification in an anaplastic oligoastrocytoma (Fallon et al., 2004). In a series of 33 oligodendrogliomas, Reifenberger et al. found EGFR amplification by Southern blotting in one case of anaplastic oligodendroglioma (Reifenberger et al., 1996). Our results are in agreement with the previous studies, although the number of tumours in these subgroups is small. Anaplastic oligodendroglial tumours carry EGFR amplification at a significantly higher rate. In a prospective chemotherapy study, EGFR amplification was present in 18% of anaplastic oligodendrogliomas (Kouwenhoven et al., 2009).

#### Amplification of genes on chromosome 4q12 (study III)

#### PDGFRA

In the present study PDGFRA amplification was found mainly in highgrade astrocytomas. PDGFRA was amplified in one primary (n=35) and one recurrent (n=12) low-grade astrocytoma. Anaplastic astrocytomas carried PDGFRA amplification in 33% at first diagnosis and in 12% in recurrent tumours. In secondary glioblastomas, PDGFRA amplification was found in 31% of cases. PDGFRA amplification emerged in two tumours during progression from low-grade astrocytoma to glioblastoma (Figure 5, cases 13 and 39). These results are well in line with other studies, where PDGFRA amplification has been found in 8-21% of glioblastomas (Fleming et al.,

1992; Joensuu et al., 2005; Verhaak et al., 2010; Nobusawa et al., 2011). Fleming and co-workers found PDGFRA amplification in one of seven anaplastic astrocytomas by Southern blotting (Fleming et al., 1992). In a recent array-CGH study, PDGFRA amplification was detected in 13% of anaplastic astrocytomas (Toedt et al., 2010). In lowgrade astrocytomas, PDGFRA amplification has been reported in 14-50% of tumours by real-time quantitative PCR analysis (Arjona et al., 2005; Martinho et al., 2009).

In the present study, oligodendroglial tumours did not exhibit PDGFRA amplification at the time of the diagnosis. However, at recurrence one anaplastic oligodendroglioma (n=11) and four anaplastic oligoastrocytomas (n=10) had acquired PDGFRA amplification (Table 5, Figure 5). Our results are in agreement with Martinho and coworkers who found PDGFRA amplification in 1 out of 10 low-grade oligodendrogliomas and in 3 out of 15 anaplastic oligodendroglial tumours (Martinho et al., 2009). Smith et al. reported PDGFRA amplification in 4 out of 21 anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and in 1 out of 11 anaplastic oligoastrocytomas (Smith et al., 2000).

In glioblastomas, PDGFRA amplification accumulates in a subtype that has a proneural gene expression profile (Verhaak et al., 2010). The proneural subtype of glioblastomas is characterised by genes associated with the progress of neurogenesis (Phillips et al., 2006), and it is associated with younger patient age and better outcome (Phillips et al., 2006; Verhaak et al., 2010). According to a recent study, activating rearrangements of the PDGFRA gene are present in 40% of glioblastomas with amplified PDGFRA (Ozawa et al., 2010). Furthermore, Ozawa et al. have reported a novel gene fusion between PDGFRA and VEGFR2 in glioblastomas (Ozawa et al., 2010).

Imatinib is a selective tyrosine kinase inhibitor of KIT, PDGFRs and BCR-ABL fusion protein, which is the oncogenic protein in chronic myelogenous leukaemia (Capdeville et al., 2002). Imatinib has revolutionized the therapy of patients with myelogenous chronic leukemia (CML) and gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST), which is characterised by activating mutations of KIT or (Antonescu, **PDGFRA** 2011). Imatinib inhibits tumour cell growth in primary cultures of high-grade gliomas (Hagerstrand et al., 2006). However, in a clinical trial imatinib therapy showed only limited efficacy in patients with recurrent gliomas (Raymond et al., 2008).

#### KIT

In the present study, KIT amplification was found more frequently in recurrent tumours than in primary gliomas (27% vs. 10%, p<0.01). We found KIT amplification most frequently in malignant astrocytic tumours. KIT amplification was present in 28% of primary, in 50% of recurrent anaplastic astrocytomas and in 36% of secondary glioblastomas as well. At first presentation, low-grade astrocytomas and oligodendroglial tumours carried KIT amplification in significantly lower

			Ampli	fication at	t first diac	Inosis	Ami	olification	at recurre	nce
Tumour histology and g	Irade		. <u>u</u> u	of inform	ative tumo	ours)	u) u	of inform	ative tumo	urs)
First diagnosis Recurr	ence	c	PDGFRA	KIT	VEGFR2	EGFR	PDGFRA	KIT	VEGFR2	EGFR
A2 $\rightarrow$ A2		2	0 (11)	0 (12)	2 (11)	0 (11)	1 (8)	2 (9)	1 (9)	2 (9)
$A2 \rightarrow A3$	-	ო	1 (13)	0 (11)	2 (11)	0 (11)	1 (12)	5 (11)	1 (12)	0 (11)
$A2 \rightarrow GBM$		7	0 (6)	1 (7)	1 (7)	(9) 0	2 (7)	1 (7) 1	0 (7)	0 (7)
A3 ↓ A3		9	1 (5)	2 (6)	1 (6)	1 (6)	1 (4)	2 (4)	1 (4)	1 (4)
A3 → GBM		œ	3 (8)	3 (8)	2 (8)	1 (7) 1	3 (8)	4 (6)	2 (8)	2 (7)
$A2 \rightarrow OA3$		5	0 (4)	1 (5)	0 (5)	0 (5)	1 (4)	0 (4)	1 (5)	0 (5)
A3 → A2		ო	1 (2)	0 (3)	0 (3)	0 (3)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (3)	0 (2)
A3 ↓ O3		-	n.a.	0 (I)	0 (I)	0 (I)	0 (I)	0 (I)	0 (1)	0 (I)
A2 → O3		-	0 (I)	0 (1)	0 (I)	n.a.	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)
O2 → O2		4	0 (3)	0 (3)	0 (3)	0 (4)	0 (3)	0 (3)	0 (3)	1 (3)
O2 ↓ O3		ო	0 (3)	0 (3)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (3)	0 (3)	0 (3)	0 (3)
O3 ↓ O3		5	0 (5)	0 (4)	0 (5)	0 (5)	1 (5)	1 (5)	1 (5)	0 (5)
$O2 \rightarrow OA3$		2	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (1)	(L) 0	0 (1)	0 (1)
$O2 \rightarrow OA2$		2	0 (2)	0 (2)	1 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	1 (2)	0 (2)
$O3 \rightarrow OA3$		-	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (I)	0 (I)	0 (1)	0 (1)	n.a.	0 (I)
O3 → O2		-	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)	(L) 0	0 (1)	(L) 0	0 (I)	0 (1)
$O2 \rightarrow A3$		-	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)	(L) 0	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
O3 ↓ A3		-	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)	(1) [	0 (1)	0 (1)
$OA2 \rightarrow OA2$		-	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)	n.a.	0 (1)	(L) L	0 (1)	0 (1)
$OA2 \rightarrow OA3$		4	0 (3)	1 (3)	0 (3)	0 (3)	3 (4)	2 (4)	2 (3)	0 (4)
$OA3 \rightarrow OA3$		-	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (I)	0 (I)	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
$OA3 \rightarrow GBM$		-	n.a.	n.a.	(L) L	(L) L	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)	n.a.
$OA2 \rightarrow A2$		2	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)
OA3 → O3		2	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (2)	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)	0 (1)
Total	3	57	6 (78)	8 (81)	10 (81)	3 (78)	13 (73)	19 (71)	10 (74)	6 (72)
A astrocytoma, GBM glio n.a. not available	blastoma	O olig	odendrogl	ioma, OA	oligoastr	ocytoma,	WHO grade by	Arabic nu	umerals,	

Histological diagnoses and gene amplifications in primary gliomas and their recurrences (study III). Table 5



frequency than anaplastic astrocytomas (5% vs. 28%, p=0.01).

The frequency of KIT amplification in a recent population-based study of glioblastomas was 4.4%, as studied by differential PCR (Nobusawa et al., 2011). Holtkamp et al. studied 87 gliomas using the multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA) method and found KIT amplification in 5% of glioblastomas but not in any anaplastic astrocytomas or oligodendrogliomas (Holtkamp et al., 2007). The differences in KIT amplification frequency between the studies may be due to different detection methods and patient material.

Nobusawa and co-workers did not detect a significant difference in KIT amplification frequency beprimary and secondary tween glioblastomas (Nobusawa et al., 2011). This result suggests that KIT amplification may be involved in the pathogenesis of both primary and secondary glioblastomas. Notably, in our material, 5 of 13 astrocytomas acquired KIT amplification during progression from grade II to III, suggesting that KIT may play a role in the progression of low-grade astrocytomas as well.

Mutations of KIT have not been reported in gliomas. Joensuu and coworkers did not detect any KIT mutations in a series of 47 glioblastomas (Joensuu et al., 2005). At protein level, KIT expression was rare in our material; moderate or strong immunoreactivity was present in only two anaplastic astrocytomas and two secondary glioblastomas. All four tumours that expressed KIT by immunohistochemistry harboured KIT amplification.

#### VEGFR2

In the present study, VEGFR2 amplification was found in 5 (14%) low-grade astrocytomas, in 3 (17%) anaplastic astrocytomas and in 2 (11%) oligodendroglial tumours at first diagnosis. There was no significant difference in the VEGFR2 amplification rate between primary and recurrent gliomas (12% vs. 14%). Two (12%) secondary glioblastomas harboured VEGFR2 amplification. In their population-based study of glioblastomas, Nobusawa et al. detected VEGFR2 amplification in 3.3% of tumours (Nobusawa et al., 2011). Holtkamp and co-workers did not find VEGFR2 amplifications in a series of 10 anaplastic astrocytomas and 12 oligodendrogliomas (Holtkamp et al., 2007).

We found immunohistochemical VEGFR2 expression in 28 of 51 (47%) of astrocytic tumours at first diagnosis. Oligodendroglial tumours were negative by VEGFR2 immunohistochemistry at first diagnosis. In our material, VEGFR2 expression did not correlate with VEGFR2 amplification. Steiner and co-workers have demonstrated coexpression of VEGF and its receptor VEGFR2 in glioblastomas, suggesting a presence of an autocrine signalling loop (Steiner et al., 2004). VEGFR2 expression has been detected in glioblastoma cell lines as well (Holtkamp et al., 2007). VEGF upregulation and simultaneous amplification of its receptor VEGFR2 in gliomas cells may facilitate tumour growth.

#### Co-amplification of KIT, PDGFRA and VEGFR2

We found co-amplification of KIT, PDGFRA and VEGFR2, which are located at 4q12, in 2 primary anaplastic astrocytomas (3% of informative primary tumours, Figure 5). At recurrence, co-amplification of the three genes was present in 5 (7%) tumours (1 astrocytoma grade III, 1 glioblastoma, 1 oligodendroglioma grade III and 2 oligoastrocytomas grade III). In a recent series of glioblastomas, co-amplification of the three genes was present in 3.1% of tumours (Nobusawa et al., 2011).

#### Prognostic value of KIT, PDGFRA and EGFR amplifications

In our study, PDGFRA (p=0.047), (p=0.015)KIT and EGFR (p=0.0003)amplifications were prognostic factors for overall survival in univariate analysis. However, in multivariate analysis that included tumour histology and grade, the gene amplifications were not associated with prognosis. This result is probably due to the fact that amplification of PDGFRA (p=0.014) and EGFR (p=0.048) were associated with tumour grade in primary tumours. Järvelä and co-workers renegative association ported а between EGFR amplification and survival in anaplastic astrocytomas (Järvelä et al., 2006) but two other studies found no such association (Smith et al., 2001; Liu et al., 2005). In glioblastomas, EGFR amplification is not an independent prognostic factor (Liu et al., 2005; Järvelä et al., 2006) with an exception of patients over 60 years of age (Smith et al., 2001).

### Mutations of p53 gene

We detected p53 gene mutations at first diagnosis in 11 (29%) low-grade astrocytomas, in 5 (28%) anaplastic astrocytomas and in 7 (22%) oligodendroglial tumours. There was no significant difference in the frequency of p53 mutations between first diagnosis and recurrence, indicating that the p53 mutation is an early event in the progression of gliomas. In a population-based study of low-grade gliomas, p53 mutations were present in 59% of astrocytomas and in 23% of oligodendroglial tumours (Okamoto et al., 2004). The lower frequency of p53 mutations detected in our material may be due to different patient population and detection methods. p53 mutation is a genetic hallmark of secondary glioblastomas (Ohgaki and Kleihues, 2007). In our material, 6 (38%) secondary glioblastomas harboured p53 mutation.

#### Expression of COX-2 and HuR in gliomas (study IV)

#### COX-2

We studied COX-2 expression in primary and recurrent gliomas of 113 patients. Histological diagnoses and WHO grade of the tumours are shown in Table 6. We found a high level of COX-2 expression in 65 (28%) of gliomas (Table 6). COX-2 expression was observed in all subtypes of diffuse gliomas. There was no significant difference in COX-2 immunostaining between astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas. Upregulated COX-2 expression was associated with higher WHO grade (p < 0.001) in the whole tumour group and in subgroups of astrocytomas (p < 0.001)and oligodendrogliomas (p < 0.001). Our results are in accordance with previous studies, where COX-2 immunoexpression correlated positively with tumour grade in astrocytomas (Joki et al., 2000; Shono et al., 2001; Hara and Okayasu, 2004). Similarly, Castilla and co-workers found elevated COX-2 expression in high-grade oligodendrogliomas (Castilla et al., 2003).

#### HuR

We detected nuclear expression of HuR in all studied tumours. The nuclei of neurons that were inside the infiltrating glioma tissue were positive by immunohistochemistry as well. Cytoplasmic HuR immunoreactivity was present in 44 gliomas (20%, Table 6). We analysed cytoplasmic HuR expression because the shuttling of HuR between nucleus and cytoplasm is considered the main mechanism of its mRNA stabilisation activity (Doller et al., 2008). Furthermore, elevated cytoplasmic HuR content is linked to patient outcome in breast carcinoma and ovarian carcinoma (Erkinheimo et al., 2003; Heinonen et al., 2005). The immunohistochemical method is suitable for analysing HuR expression in brain tumours because it enables the study of subcellular localization of the protein.

Few reports have been published on the role of HuR in brain tumours. Nabors et al. observed HuR expression at the mRNA level in glioblastomas, pilocytic astrocytomas, ependymomas, medulloblastomas and meningiomas (Nabors et al., 2001). In their material, immunohistochemistry revealed a predominantly nuclear staining pattern with weak cytoplasmic staining in glioblastomas (Nabors et al., 2001). In another a series of 27 astrocytomas, HuR mRNA expression and nuclear immunoreactivity were found in all tumours (Ido et al., 2008). Cytoplasmic immunoreactivity was associated with higher tumour grade (Ido et al., 2008).

In the present study, cytoplasmic HuR expression correlated with higher tumour grade in the whole material (p<0.001) and in astrocytomas (p<0.001) but not in oligodendrogliomas or oligoastrocytomas. Thus, our results suggest that cytoplasmic localization of HuR could be involved in glioma progression. However, no significant association was observed between histological glioma type and cytoplasmic HuR staining indicating that upregulation of HuR may play a role in the pathogenesis of both astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas. A significant difference was seen in cytoplasmic HuR expression between primary and secondary glioblastomas in the recurrent tumour group (p=0.01, Table 6), which reflects divergent pathogenesis of these tumours.

			Cytoplasr	nic HuR					CO	X-2			
		First diagr	nosis		Recurren	ce		First diagn	osis		Recurrer	Jce	
Tumour histology and grade	z	(%) –	(%) +	z	(%) –	(%) +	z	Low (%) H	High (%)	z	Low (%)	High (	(%)
Astrocytoma													
Grade II	40	38 (95)	2 (5)	14	14 100)	(o) o	42	38 (90)	4 (10)	14	11 (79)	с) Ю	21)
Grade III	19	17 (89)	2 (11)	20	19 (95)	1 (5)	20	16 (80)	4 (20)	20	13 (65)	) ~	35)
Glioblastoma, primary	15	8 (53)	7 (47)	13	4 (31)	9 (69)	15	8 (53)	7 (47)	13	3 (23)	10	11
Glioblastoma, secondary		n.a.		21	16 (76)	5 (24)		n.a.		22	13 (59)	·) 6	41)
Oligodendroglioma													
Grade II	13	12 (92)	1 (8)	5	5 100)	(o) o	15	15 100)	(0) 0	6	6 100)	0	0
Grade III	6	7 (78)	2 (22)	17	12 (71)	5 (29)	6	7 (78)	2 (22)	17	11 (65)	() 9	35)
Oligoastrocytoma													
Grade II	œ	7 (88)	1 (13)	5	5 100)	(0) 0	œ	7 (88)	1 (13)	5	4 (80)	:) -	20)
Grade III	4	2 (50)	2 (50)	19	12 (63)	7 (37)	4	4 100)	0 (0)	19	8 (42)	;) LL	58)
Total	108	16	17	114	87	27	113	95	18	116	69	47	
n.a. not applicable													

Tumour histology, WHO grade and immunoreactivity of HuR and COX-2 (study IV). Table 6

#### Association of COX-2 and HuR expression in gliomas (study IV)

We found a significant correlation between cytoplasmic HuR staining and a high level of COX-2 expression (p < 0.001). A similar association between HuR and COX-2 has been observed in carcinomas of the breast, ovary, colon and stomach (Erkinheimo et al., 2003; Denkert et al., 2004b; Mrena et al., 2005; Denkert et al., 2006). Experimental studies have shown that HuR regulates COX-2 mRNA and protein expression in cell lines (Dixon et al., 2001; Sengupta et al., 2003; Mrena et al., 2005; Young et al., 2009). Moreover, HuR is involved in the stabilisation of mRNAs of many other genes related to cancer, such as cyclins, HIF- $1\alpha$  and VEGF (Lopez de Silanes et al., 2005). There is evidence that HuR regulates the expression of VEGF in gliomas as well. Ido and co-workers have shown that the inhibition of cytoplasmic translocation of HuR reduces VEGF expression astrocytoma cell lines (Ido et al., 2008). Despite the substantial evidence that links HuR and cancer, it is still not known if HuR has a causal role in tumourigenesis.

#### Prognostic value of COX-2 and HuR in gliomas (study IV)

In the present study, univariate survival analysis showed a significant correlation between overall survival and histological tumour type (p<0.001), WHO grade (p<0.001),

age at diagnosis (p=0.02), cytoplasmic HuR expression (p < 0.001), high COX-2 expression (p=0.001) and combination of HuR/COX-2 expression (p<0.001). Next, we performed multivariate survival analysis to evaluate the independence of HuR and COX-2 as prognostic factors. In Cox multivariate analysis, histological tumour type (p < 0.001), WHO grade (p<0.001) and patient (p=0.03) were independent age prognostic markers for overall survival. Expression of HuR and COX-2 were not independently associated with patient outcome probably due their strong association with to WHO grade. In a previous study, COX-2 was associated with poor patient outcome independent of tumour grade in astrocytomas (Shono et al., 2001). However, in the material by Shono and co-workers, WHO grade was not associated with prognosis, which is contrary to current knowledge (Louis et al., 2007). The correlation between COX-2 expression and prognosis has been observed in astrocytomas (Hara and Okayasu, 2004) and in oligodendrogliomas (Castilla et al., 2003) in univariate survival analysis. Cytoplasmic HuR expression is a prognostic marker in carcinomas of the breast and ovary (Erkinheimo et al., 2003; Denkert et al., 2004a; Heinonen et al., 2005). The role of HuR as a prognostic factor in gliomas has not been reported previously.

# Molecular changes during glioma progression (studies II-IV)

Results of the current study show that the immunohistochemically detected expression of ezrin (p < 0.05)and COX-2 (p<0.001) increased significantly between the first and second glioma operation. However, no significant difference was seen in the cytoplasmic expression of HuR between gliomas at first diagnosis and recurrence. At DNA level, amplification of the KIT gene was present more frequently in recurrent gliomas compared to their primary tumours (p<0.05). Amplification frequencies of PDGFRA, VEGFR2 and EGFR were not significantly different between primary and recurrent gliomas, but the number of tumours with these alterations was small.

Progression of gliomas from lowgrade to high-grade tumours is characterised by the sequential accumulation of genetic alterations, epigenetic changes and dysregulation of proteins related to cell proliferation. These changes may be directly involved in tumourigenesis or they may reflect secondary alterations due to dysfunction of common pathways. Previous studies have identified several genetic alterations that are present in recurrent gliomas but not in the corresponding primary tumours. Deletion of the tumour suppressor gene CDKN2A is involved in the development of tumour recurrences in both astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas (Hulsebos et al., 1998; Jeuken et al., 2002; Idbaih et al., 2008; Jeuken et al., 2010). Other tumour suppressor genes that are implicated in glioma progression include Rb1 (Hulsebos et al., 1998) and PTEN (Jeuken et al., 2010). According to recent literature, MGMT promoter methylation status may change from unmethylated to methylated during progression of oligodendrogliomas (Lavon et al., 2007) and in glioblastomas after the initial diagnosis (Brandes et al., 2010; Jung et al., 2010).

At present, it is not known if the alterations we detected in the expression of ezrin and COX-2 and if the amplification of the KIT gene are directly linked to the tumourigenesis of gliomas. It is possible that they merely represent dysregulation of the glioma cell proteome and genomic instability. However, these alterations could be used as surrogate markers of glioma progression together with other genetic and epigenetic aberrations of gliomas. Currently, the state-of-the-art molecular markers that are used in diagnostic and prognostic assessment of glioinclude 1p/19qdeletions, mas MGMT promoter methylation, IDH1 mutation and EGFR amplification as reviewed above.

# CONCLUDING REMARKS

In the first part of this thesis, we focused on the correlation of contrast enhancement in MRI and immunohistochemical analysis of gliomas. Based on our results, preoperative MRI may be used to estimate tumour cell proliferation activity and vascular density in grade II-IV diffuse gliomas. This information is of clinical value because the tissue sample submitted for histopathological analysis may not represent the most proliferative part of the tumour, whereas by MRI the tumour can be evaluated as a whole. However. contrast enhancement should be evaluated cautiously together with clinical information and other MRI features to exclude pilocytic astrocytomas and other enhancing brain lesions.

Secondly, we studied gene amplifications and proteins related to the recurrence and progression of gliomas. We confirmed that ezrin is expressed at protein level in both astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas, and ezrin may play a role in the progression of these tumours. High ezrin expression correlates with poor patient outcome although it is not an independent prognostic factor.

Amplifications of PDGFRA, KIT and VEGFR2 are present in both low-grade and malignant gliomas. PDGFRA and KIT amplifications occur most frequently in highgrade astrocytomas and in secondary glioblastomas. Since the frequency of KIT amplification increases in recurrent gliomas, KIT appears to be linked to tumour progression.

We found that COX-2 expression is upregulated in gliomas in a grade dependent manner. Cytoplasmic HuR expression correlates with COX-2 expression in gliomas. Therefore, HuR is a potential regulator of COX-2 in gliomas, as in many epithelial cancers. Expression of COX-2 and HuR are prognostic factors for glioma patient survival in univariate analysis but not in multivariate analysis.

The strength of this study is the long follow-up time of the patients (median of 10 years for low-grade gliomas). A follow-up of several years is essential, because the median survival time of patients with lowgrade gliomas is over 7 years (Okamoto et al., 2004). There are two limitations in this study. First, the tumour material was collected retrospectively. Second, we included only tumour pairs from primary and recurrent glioma operations. This approach may cause selection bias to the results. We used multivariate analysis to control the effects of patient age, histological type and grade that are known to have a strong association with the recurrence and malignancy of gliomas. Despite these limitations, our results give some new insights into the progression of gliomas.

The main future targets in the treatment of gliomas are the elimination of glioma stem cells and migrating tumour cells, which are eventually fatal to the patient. Glioma stem cells maintain the tumour cell proliferation and growth but they are resistant to current therapies. Development of new treatments also requires novel imaging tools capable of monitoring glioma stem cells and dissemination of tumour cells.

Management of patients with low-grade diffuse gliomas is a challenge to a neuro-oncological team. The patients undergo several recurrences and treatment modalities during the course of the disease that may span over 10 years. Continuing research of the molecular biology of gliomas is needed to find markers that would identify patients at risk for early malignant transformation and to reveal possible targets for therapeutic interventions. These markers and new treatment strategies should be validated in prospective trials to determine optimal management strategies for glioma patients.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Department of Pathology, Haartman Institute, University of Helsinki. I am grateful to the head of the department Professor Veli-Pekka Lehto and the former heads of the department Professor Emeritus Eero Saksela and Professor Leif Andersson for providing excellent research facilities.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Professor Timo Paavonen and Docent Anders Paetau. Timo introduced me to science and pathology. His example was one of the main reasons for me to choose pathology as a career. Anders has extensive knowledge and experience in neuropathology. I am privileged to work under his guidance.

I wish to warmly thank Professor Hannu Kalimo and Professor Emeritus Matti Haltia, the present and former head of neuropathology at the University of Helsinki. They are excellent scientists and neuropathologists, who have given me invaluable support and encouragement during this study.

I am grateful to Professor Heikki Minn and Professor Sverre Mørk, the reviewers of this thesis, for valuable comments to the manuscript.

I wish to thank Professor Hannu Aronen for giving me introduction to the MRI of brain tumours. Dr. Marko Ruhala, Kristina von Boguslawski, M.Sc., Docent Oili Salonen and Professor Juha Jääskeläinen are thanked for their collaboration.

I am most grateful to Professor Heikki Joensuu and his group in the Laboratory of Molecular Oncology, Biomedicum Helsinki, for fruitful collaboration. Marjut Puputti, M.Sc., and Harri Sihto, M.Sc., are especially thanked for their close co-operation in many brain tumour projects.

Docent Nina Nupponen and her research group are warmly acknowledged for collaboration in several brain tumour studies.

I wish to thank my co-workers Professor Olli Carpén, Tea Blom, Ph.D., Docent Hanna Mäenpää, Professor Jorma Isola, Professor Ari Ristimäki and Docent Caj Haglund. I am thankful to Docent Jouni Lauronen for his help and friendship.

Hilkka Toivonen, Pirjo Tuomi, Tuula Nousiainen, Tuula Halmesvaara, Helena Ahola, Tuija Järvinen, Ilse Paetau, Sari Toivola, Laura Pulli, Päivi Peltokangas and Tuire Koski are thanked for skilful technical assistance. Päivi Mulari-Matikainen is thanked for her kind help in many things. I am grateful to Ilkka Vanhatalo for computer support.

All the colleagues and friends at the Department of Pathology of Haartman Institute and HUSLAB are warmly thanked for their help and advice. The staff of the pathology laboratory of HUSLAB are kindly acknowledged. Especially, the staff of the neuropathology and immunohistochemistry laboratories are thanked for their help. All the colleagues of the Neurooncology team at the departments of Oncology, Neurosurgery, Radiology and Neurology are warmly acknowledged.

I wish to thank the volleyball team of the Department of Pathology for tough games and cheerful moments.

I am grateful to my family; Elina, Aapo and Jaakko for their love and support. I want to warmly thank my parents, parents-in-law, sister and sister-in-law and their families for their encouragement and help in everyday life.

This work has been financially supported by the Finska Läkaresällskapet, the Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation and the Helsinki University Central Hospital.

Olli Tynninen

## REFERENCES

- Abdulrauf SI, Edvardsen K, Ho KL, Yang XY, Rock JP, Rosenblum ML. Vascular endothelial growth factor expression and vascular density as prognostic markers of survival in patients with low-grade astrocytoma. J Neurosurg 88:513-520, 1998
- Aghi M, Gaviani P, Henson JW, Batchelor TT, Louis DN, Barker FG 2nd. Magnetic resonance imaging characteristics predict epidermal growth factor receptor amplification status in glioblastoma. Clin Cancer Res 11:8600-8605, 2005
- Alexiou GA, Tsiouris S, Kyritsis AP, Argyropoulou MI, Voulgaris S, Fotopoulos AD. Assessment of glioma proliferation using imaging modalities. J Clin Neurosci 17:1233-1238, 2010
- Antonescu CR. The GIST paradigm: lessons for other kinase-driven cancers. J Pathol 223:251-261, 2011
- Arjona D, Bello MJ, Alonso ME, Isla A, De Campos JM, Vaquero J, Sarasa JL, Gutierrez M, Rey JA. Real-time quantitative PCR analysis of regions involved in gene amplification reveals gene overdose in low-grade astrocytic gliomas. Diagn Mol Pathol 14:224-229, 2005
- Armstrong RC, Dorn HH, Kufta CV, Friedman E, Dubois-Dalcq ME. Pre-oligodendrocytes from adult human CNS. J Neurosci 12:1538-1547, 1992
- Aronen HJ, Gazit IE, Louis DN, Buchbinder BR, FS, Pardo Weisskoff RM, Harsh GR, Cosgrove GR, Halpern EF, Hochberg FH. Cerebral blood volume maps of gliomas: comparison with tumor grade and histologic findings. Radiology 191:41-51, 1994

- Aronen HJ, Pardo FS, Kennedy DN, Belliveau JW, Packard SD, Hsu DW, Hochberg FH, Fischman AJ, Rosen BR. High microvascular blood volume is associated with high glucose uptake and tumor angiogenesis in human gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 6:2189-2200, 2000
- Asari S, Makabe T, Katayama S, Itoh T, Tsuchida S, Ohmoto T. Assessment of the pathological grade of astrocytic gliomas using an MRI score. Neuroradiology 36:308-310, 1994
- Asthagiri AR, Parry DM, Butman JA, Kim HJ, Tsilou ET, Zhuang Z, Lonser RR. Neurofibromatosis type 2. Lancet 373:1974-1986, 2009
- Bailey P and Cushing HW. A classification of the tumors of the glioma group on a histogenetic basis with a correlated study of prognosis. JB Lippincott. Philadelphia, 1926
- Ballabh P, Braun A, Nedergaard M. The blood-brain barrier: an overview: structure, regulation, and clinical implications. Neurobiol Dis 16:1-13, 2004
- Barker FG 2nd, Chang SM, Huhn SL, Davis RL, Gutin PH, McDermott MW, Wilson CB, Prados MD. Age and the risk of anaplasia in magnetic resonance-nonenhancing supratentorial cerebral tumors. Cancer 80:936-941, 1997
- Belliveau JW, Kennedy DN,Jr, McKinstry RC, Buchbinder BR, Weisskoff RM, Cohen MS, Vevea JM, Brady TJ, Rosen BR. Functional mapping of the human visual cortex by magnetic resonance imaging. Science 254:716-719, 1991
- Bernstein JJ and Woodard CA. Glioblastoma cells do not intrava-

sate into blood vessels. Neurosurgery 36:124-132, 1995

- Birlik B, Canda S, Ozer E. Tumour vascularity is of prognostic significance in adult, but not paediatric astrocytomas. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 32:532-538, 2006
- Böhling T, Turunen O, Jääskeläinen J, Carpén O, Sainio M, Wahlström T, Vaheri A, Haltia M. Ezrin expression in stromal cells of capillary hemangioblastoma. An immunohistochemical survey of brain tumors. Am J Pathol 148:367-373, 1996
- Bradl M and Lassmann H. Oligodendrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol 119:37-53, 2010
- Brandes AA, Franceschi E, Tosoni A, Bartolini S, Bacci A, Agati R, Ghimenton C, Turazzi S, Talacchi A, Skrap M, Marucci G, Volpin L, Morandi L, Pizzolitto S, Gardiman M, Andreoli A, Calbucci F, Ermani O(6)-methylguanine М. DNAmethyltransferase methylation status can change between first surgery for newly diagnosed glioblastoma and second surgery for recurrence: clinical implications. Neuro Oncol 12:283-288, 2010
- Brant-Zawadzki M, Berry I, Osaki L, Brasch R, Murovic J, Norman D. Gd-DTPA in clinical MR of the brain: 1. Intraaxial lesions AJR Am J Roentgenol 147:1223-1230, 1986
- Brat DJ, Castellano-Sanchez AA, Hunter SB, Pecot M, Cohen C, Hammond EH, Devi SN, Kaur B, Van Meir EG. Pseudopalisades in glioblastoma are hypoxic, express extracellular matrix proteases, and are formed by an actively migrating cell population. Cancer Res 64:920-927, 2004
- Cairncross G, Berkey B, Shaw E, Jenkins R, Scheithauer B, Brachman D, Buckner J, Fink K, Souhami L, Laperierre N, Mehta M, Curran W.

Phase III trial of chemotherapy plus radiotherapy compared with radiotherapy alone for pure and mixed anaplastic oligodendroglioma: Intergroup Radiation Therapy Oncology Group Trial 9402. J Clin Oncol 24:2707-2714, 2006

- Cairncross JG, Ueki K, Zlatescu MC, Lisle DK, Finkelstein DM, Hammond RR, Silver JS, Stark PC, Macdonald DR, Ino Y, Ramsay DA, Louis DN. Specific genetic predictors of chemotherapeutic response and survival in patients with anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. J Natl Cancer Inst 90:1473-1479, 1998
- Callot V, Galanaud D, Figarella-Branger D, Lefur Y, Metellus P, Nicoli F, Cozzone P. Correlations between MR and endothelial hyperplasia in low-grade gliomas. J Magn Reson Imaging 26:52-60, 2007
- Camelo-Piragua S, Jansen M, Ganguly A, Kim JC, Cosper AK, Dias-Santagata D, Nutt CL, Iafrate AJ, Louis DN. A Sensitive and Specific Diagnostic Panel to Distinguish Diffuse Astrocytoma From Astrocytosis: Chromosome 7 Gain With Mutant Isocitrate Dehydrogenase 1 and p53. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 70:110-115, 2011
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 455:1061-1068, 2008
- Canoll P and Goldman JE. The interface between glial progenitors and gliomas. Acta Neuropathol 116:465-477, 2008
- Capdeville R, Buchdunger E, Zimmermann J, Matter A. Glivec (STI571, imatinib), a rationally developed, targeted anticancer drug. Nat Rev Drug Discov 1:493-502, 2002

- Capper D, Reuss D, Schittenhelm J, Hartmann C, Bremer J, Sahm F, Harter PN, Jeibmann A, von Deimling A. Mutation-specific IDH1 antibody differentiates oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas from other brain tumors with oligodendroglioma-like morphology. Acta Neuropathol 121:241-252, 2011
- Capper D, Weissert S, Balss J, Habel A, Meyer J, Jager D, Ackermann U, Tessmer C, Korshunov A, Zentgraf H, Hartmann C, von Deimling A. Characterization of R132H mutation-specific IDH1 antibody binding in brain tumors. Brain Pathol 20:245-254, 2010
- Capper D, Zentgraf H, Balss J, Hartmann C, von Deimling A. Monoclonal antibody specific for IDH1 R132H mutation. Acta Neuropathol 118:599-601, 2009
- Castilla EA, Prayson RA, Kanner AA, Rybicki LA, Tubbs RR, Vogelbaum MA, Barnett GH. Cyclooxygenase-2 in oligodendroglial neoplasms. Cancer 98:1465-1472, 2003
- Cattoretti G, Becker MH, Key G, Duchrow M, Schluter C, Galle J, Gerdes J. Monoclonal antibodies against recombinant parts of the Ki-67 antigen (MIB 1 and MIB 3) detect proliferating cells in microwaveprocessed formalin-fixed paraffin sections. J Pathol 168:357-363, 1992
- Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States. CBTRUS Statistical Report: Primary Brain and Central Nervous System Tumors Diagnosed in the United States in 2004-2007. Source: Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States. Hinsdale, IL, website: www.cbtrus.org, 2011
- Claes A, Idema AJ, Wesseling P. Diffuse glioma growth: a guerilla war. Acta Neuropathol 114:443-458, 2007
- Curtin JA, Busam K, Pinkel D, Bastian BC. Somatic activation of KIT in

distinct subtypes of melanoma. J Clin Oncol 24:4340-4346, 2006

- Dahlstrand J, Collins VP, Lendahl U. Expression of the class VI intermediate filament nestin in human central nervous system tumors. Cancer Res 52:5334-5341, 1992
- Dai C, Celestino JC, Okada Y, Louis DN, Fuller GN, Holland EC. PDGF autocrine stimulation dedifferentiates cultured astrocytes and induces oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas from neural progenitors and astrocytes in vivo. Genes Dev 15:1913-1925, 2001
- Dang L, White DW, Gross S, Bennett BD, Bittinger MA, Driggers EM, Fantin VR, Jang HG, Jin S, Keenan MC, Marks KM, Prins RM, Ward PS, Yen KE, Liau LM, Rabinowitz JD, Cantley LC, Thompson CB, Vander Heiden MG, Su SM. Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate. Nature 462:739-744, 2009
- De Witte O, Goldberg I, Wikler D, Rorive S, Damhaut P, Monclus M, Salmon I, Brotchi J, Goldman S. Positron emission tomography with injection of methionine as a prognostic factor in glioma. J Neurosurg 95:746-750, 2001
- Dean JL, Wait R, Mahtani KR, Sully G, Clark AR, Saklatvala J. The 3' untranslated region of tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA is a target of the mRNA-stabilizing factor HuR. Mol Cell Biol 21:721-730, 2001
- Dehghani F, Schachenmayr W, Laun A, Korf HW. Prognostic implication of histopathological, immunohistochemical and clinical features of oligodendrogliomas: a study of 89 cases. Acta Neuropathol 95:493-504, 1998
- Deininger MH, Weller M, Streffer J, Mittelbronn M, Meyermann R. Patterns of cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 expression in human gliomas in

vivo. Acta Neuropathol 98:240-244, 1999

- Del Bigio MR. Ependymal cells: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol 119:55-73, 2010
- Denkert C, Koch I, von Keyserlingk N, Noske A, Niesporek S, Dietel M, Weichert W. Expression of the ELAV-like protein HuR in human colon cancer: association with tumor stage and cyclooxygenase-2. Mod Pathol 19:1261-1269, 2006
- Denkert C, Weichert W, Pest S, Koch I, Licht D, Kobel M, Reles A, Sehouli J, Dietel M, Hauptmann S. Overexpression of the embryonic-lethal abnormal vision-like protein HuR in ovarian carcinoma is a prognostic factor and is associated with increased cyclooxygenase 2 expression. Cancer Res 64:189-195, 2004a
- Denkert C, Weichert W, Winzer KJ, Muller BM, Noske A, Niesporek S, Kristiansen G, Guski H, Dietel M, Hauptmann S. Expression of the ELAV-like protein HuR is associated with higher tumor grade and increased cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human breast carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 10:5580-5586, 2004b
- Derouiche A and Frotscher M. Peripheral astrocyte processes: monitoring by selective immunostaining for the actin-binding ERM proteins. Glia 36:330-341, 2001
- Dhermain FG, Hau P, Lanfermann H, Jacobs AH, van den Bent MJ. Advanced MRI and PET imaging for assessment of treatment response in patients with gliomas. Lancet Neurol 9:906-920, 2010
- Di Chiro G. Positron emission tomography using [18F] fluorodeoxyglucose in brain tumors. A powerful diagnostic and prognostic tool. Invest Radiol 22:360-371, 1987

- Diehn M, Nardini C, Wang DS, McGovern S, Jayaraman M, Liang Y, Aldape K, Cha S, Kuo MD. Identification of noninvasive imaging surrogates for brain tumor geneexpression modules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:5213-5218, 2008
- Dixon DA, Tolley ND, King PH, Nabors LB, McIntyre TM, Zimmerman GA, Prescott SM. Altered expression of the mRNA stability factor HuR promotes cyclooxygenase-2 expression in colon cancer cells. J Clin Invest 108:1657-1665, 2001
- Doller A, Pfeilschifter J, Eberhardt W. Signalling pathways regulating nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of the mRNA-binding protein HuR. Cell Signal 20:2165-2173, 2008
- Donev K, Scheithauer BW, Rodriguez FJ, Jenkins S. Expression of diagnostic neuronal markers and outcome in glioblastoma. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 36:411-421, 2010
- Dubbink HJ, Taal W, van Marion R, Kros JM, van Heuvel I, Bromberg JE, Zonnenberg BA, Zonnenberg CB, Postma TJ, Gijtenbeek JM, Boogerd W, Groenendijk FH, Smitt PA, Dinjens WN, van den Bent MJ. IDH1 mutations in low-grade astrocytomas predict survival but not response to temozolomide. Neurology 73:1792-1795, 2009
- Dubois RN, Abramson SB, Crofford L, Gupta RA, Simon LS, Van De Putte LB, Lipsky PE. Cyclooxygenase in biology and disease FASEB J 12:1063-1073, 1998
- Ducray F, Criniere E, Idbaih A, Mokhtari K, Marie Y, Paris S, Navarro S, Laigle-Donadey F, Dehais C, Thillet J, Hoang-Xuan K, Delattre JY, Sanson M. alpha-Internexin expression identifies 1p19q codeleted gliomas. Neurology 72:156-161, 2009
- Ducray F, Idbaih A, de Reynies A, Bieche I, Thillet J, Mokhtari K, Lair

S, Marie Y, Paris S, Vidaud M, Hoang-Xuan K, Delattre O, Delattre JY, Sanson M. Anaplastic oligodendrogliomas with 1p19q codeletion have a proneural gene expression profile. Mol Cancer 7:41, 2008

- Eberhart CE, Coffey RJ, Radhika A, Giardiello FM, Ferrenbach S, Du-Bois RN. Up-regulation of cyclooxygenase 2 gene expression in human colorectal adenomas and adenocarcinomas. Gastroenterology 107:1183-1188, 1994
- El Hallani S, Boisselier B, Peglion F, Rousseau A, Colin C, Idbaih A, Marie Y, Mokhtari K, Thomas JL, Eichmann A, Delattre JY, Maniotis AJ, Sanson M. A new alternative mechanism in glioblastoma vascularization: tubular vasculogenic mimicry. Brain 133:973-982, 2010
- Elzagheid A, Korkeila E, Bendardaf R, Buhmeida A, Heikkilä S, Vaheri A, Syrjänen K, Pyrhönen S, Carpén O. Intense cytoplasmic ezrin immunoreactivity predicts poor survival in colorectal cancer. Hum Pathol 39:1737-1743, 2008
- Erkinheimo TL, Lassus H, Sivula A, Sengupta S, Furneaux H, Hla T, Haglund C, Butzow R, Ristimäki A. Cytoplasmic HuR expression correlates with poor outcome and with cyclooxygenase 2 expression in serous ovarian carcinoma. Cancer Res 63:7591-7594, 2003
- Essig M, Weber MA, von Tengg-Kobligk H, Knopp MV, Yuh WT, Giesel FL. Contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging of central nervous system tumors: agents, mechanisms, and applications Top Magn Reson Imaging 17:89-106, 2006
- Esteller M, Garcia-Foncillas J, Andion E, Goodman SN, Hidalgo OF, Vanaclocha V, Baylin SB, Herman JG. Inactivation of the DNA-repair

gene MGMT and the clinical response of gliomas to alkylating agents. N Engl J Med 343:1350-1354, 2000

- Esteller M, Hamilton SR, Burger PC, Baylin SB, Herman JG. Inactivation of the DNA repair gene O6methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase by promoter hypermethylation is a common event in primary human neoplasia. Cancer Res 59:793-797, 1999
- Fallon KB, Palmer CA, Roth KA, Nabors LB, Wang W, Carpenter M, Banerjee R, Forsyth P, Rich K, Perry A. Prognostic value of 1p, 19q, 9p, 10q, and EGFR-FISH analyses in recurrent oligodendrogliomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 63:314-322, 2004
- Fearon ER. Molecular Genetics of Colorectal Cancer. Annu Rev Pathol 2010
- Felix R, Schorner W, Laniado M, Niendorf HP, Claussen C, Fiegler W, Speck U. Brain tumors: MR imaging with gadolinium-DTPA. Radiology 156:681-688, 1985
- Fischer I, Gagner JP, Law M, Newcomb EW, Zagzag D. Angiogenesis in gliomas: biology and molecular pathophysiology. Brain Pathol 15:297-310, 2005
- Fleming TP, Saxena A, Clark WC, Robertson JT, Oldfield EH, Aaronson SA, Ali IU. Amplification and/or overexpression of plateletderived growth factor receptors and epidermal growth factor receptor in human glial tumors. Cancer Res 52:4550-4553, 1992
- Folkman J. Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. N Engl J Med 285:1182-1186, 1971
- Furnari FB, Fenton T, Bachoo RM, Mukasa A, Stommel JM, Stegh A, Hahn WC, Ligon KL, Louis DN, Brennan C, Chin L, DePinho RA,

Cavenee WK. Malignant astrocytic glioma: genetics, biology, and paths to treatment. Genes Dev 21:2683-2710, 2007

- Galli R, Binda E, Orfanelli U, Cipelletti B, Gritti A, De Vitis S, Fiocco R, Foroni C, Dimeco F, Vescovi A. Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. Cancer Res 64:7011-7021, 2004
- Gavrieli Y, Sherman Y, Ben-Sasson SA. Identification of programmed cell death in situ via specific labeling of nuclear DNA fragmentation. J Cell Biol 119:493-501, 1992
- Geiger KD, Stoldt P, Schlote W, Derouiche A. Ezrin immunoreactivity is associated with increasing malignancy of astrocytic tumors but is absent in oligodendrogliomas. Am J Pathol 157:1785-1793, 2000
- Giannini C, Burger PC, Berkey BA, Cairncross JG, Jenkins RB, Mehta M, Curran WJ, Aldape K. Anaplastic oligodendroglial tumors: refining the correlation among histopathology, 1p 19q deletion and clinical outcome in Intergroup Radiation Therapy Oncology Group Trial 9402. Brain Pathol 18:360-369, 2008
- Giannini C, Scheithauer BW, Burger PC, Christensen MR, Wollan PC, Sebo TJ, Forsyth PA, Hayostek CJ. Cellular proliferation in pilocytic and diffuse astrocytomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 58:46-53, 1999
- Ginsberg LE, Fuller GN, Hashmi M, Leeds NE, Schomer DF. The significance of lack of MR contrast enhancement of supratentorial brain tumors in adults: histopathological evaluation of a series. Surg Neurol 49:436-440, 1998
- Glas M, Happold C, Rieger J, Wiewrodt D, Bahr O, Steinbach JP, Wick W, Kortmann RD, Reifenberger G, Weller M, Herrlinger U. Long-term survival of patients with glioblas-

toma treated with radiotherapy and lomustine plus temozolomide. J Clin Oncol 27:1257-1261, 2009

- Graeber MB and Streit WJ. Microglia: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol 119:89-105, 2010
- Griffin CA, Burger P, Morsberger L, Yonescu R, Swierczynski S, Weingart JD, Murphy KM. Identification of der(1;19)(q10;p10) in five oligodendrogliomas suggests mechanism of concurrent 1p and 19q loss. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 65:988-994, 2006
- Grönholm M, Teesalu T, Tyynelä J, Piltti K, Böhling T, Wartiovaara K, Vaheri A, Carpén O. Characterization of the NF2 protein merlin and the ERM protein ezrin in human, rat, and mouse central nervous system. Mol Cell Neurosci 28:683-693, 2005
- Grzendowski M, Wolter M, Riemenschneider MJ, Knobbe CB, Schlegel U, Meyer HE, Reifenberger G, Stuhler K. Differential proteome analysis of human gliomas stratified for loss of heterozygosity on chromosomal arms 1p and 19q. Neuro Oncol 12:243-256, 2010
- Guha A, Dashner K, Black PM, Wagner JA, Stiles CD. Expression of PDGF and PDGF receptors in human astrocytoma operation specimens supports the existence of an autocrine loop. Int J Cancer 60:168-173, 1995
- Guo P, Hu B, Gu W, Xu L, Wang D, Huang HJ, Cavenee WK, Cheng SY. Platelet-derived growth factor-B enhances glioma angiogenesis by stimulating vascular endothelial growth factor expression in tumor endothelia and by promoting pericyte recruitment. Am J Pathol 162:1083-1093, 2003
- Gupta M, Djalilvand A, Brat DJ. Clarifying the diffuse gliomas: an update on the morphologic features and

markers that discriminate oligodendroglioma from astrocytoma. Am J Clin Pathol 124:755-768, 2005

- Hadjipanayis CG and Van Meir EG. Tumor initiating cells in malignant gliomas: biology and implications for therapy. J Mol Med 87:363-374, 2009
- Hagerstrand D, Hesselager G, Achterberg S, Wickenberg Bolin U, Kowanetz M, Kastemar M, Heldin CH, Isaksson A, Nister M, Ostman A. Characterization of an imatinibsensitive subset of high-grade human glioma cultures. Oncogene 25:4913-4922, 2006
- Halassa MM, Fellin T, Haydon PG. The tripartite synapse: roles for gliotransmission in health and disease. Trends Mol Med 13:54-63, 2007
- Hanahan D and Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144:646-674, 2011
- Hanahan D and Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100:57-70, 2000
- Hara A and Okayasu I. Cyclooxygenase-2 and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in human astrocytic gliomas: correlation with angiogenesis and prognostic significance. Acta Neuropathol 108:43-48, 2004
- Harbour JW and Dean DC. Rb function in cell-cycle regulation and apoptosis. Nat Cell Biol 2:E65-67, 2000
- Hartmann C, Hentschel B, Wick W, Capper D, Felsberg J, Simon M, Westphal M, Schackert G, Meyermann R, Pietsch T, Reifenberger G, Weller M, Loeffler M, von Deimling A. Patients with IDH1 wild type anaplastic astrocytomas exhibit prognosis worse than IDH1mutated glioblastomas, and IDH1 mutation status accounts for the unfavorable prognostic effect of

higher age: implications for classification of gliomas. Acta Neuropathol 120:707-718, 2010

- Hartmann C, Meyer J, Balss J, Capper D, Mueller W, Christians A, Felsberg J, Wolter M, Mawrin C, Wick W, Weller M, Herold-Mende C, Unterberg A, Jeuken JW, Wesseling P, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A. Type and frequency of IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are related to astrocytic and oligodendroglial differentiation and age: a study of 1,010 diffuse gliomas. Acta Neuropathol 118:469-474, 2009
- Hasan J, Byers R, Jayson GC. Intratumoural microvessel density in human solid tumours. Br J Cancer 86:1566-1577, 2002
- Hatva E, Kaipainen A, Mentula P, Jääskeläinen J, Paetau A, Haltia M, Alitalo K. Expression of endothelial cell-specific receptor tyrosine kinases and growth factors in human brain tumors. Am J Pathol 146:368-378, 1995
- Heegaard S, Sommer HM, Broholm H, Broendstrup O. Proliferating cell nuclear antigen and Ki-67 immunohistochemistry of oligodendrogliomas with special reference to prognosis. Cancer 76:1809-1813, 1995
- Heesters MA, Koudstaal J, Go KG, Molenaar WM. Analysis of proliferation and apoptosis in brain gliomas: prognostic and clinical value. J Neurooncol 44:255-266, 1999
- Hegi ME, Diserens AC, Gorlia T, Hamou MF, de Tribolet N, Weller M, Kros JM, Hainfellner JA, Mason W, Mariani L, Bromberg JE, Hau P, Mirimanoff RO, Cairncross JG, Janzer RC, Stupp R. MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 352:997-1003, 2005
- Heinonen M, Bono P, Narko K, Chang SH, Lundin J, Joensuu H, Furneaux

H, Hla T, Haglund C, Ristimäki A. Cytoplasmic HuR expression is a prognostic factor in invasive ductal breast carcinoma. Cancer Res 65:2157-2161, 2005

- Henson JW, Gaviani P, Gonzalez RG. MRI in treatment of adult gliomas Lancet Oncol 6:167-175, 2005
- Henson JW, Schnitker BL, Correa KM, von Deimling A, Fassbender F, Xu HJ, Benedict WF, Yandell DW, Louis DN. The retinoblastoma gene is involved in malignant progression of astrocytomas. Ann Neurol 36:714-721, 1994
- Hermanson M, Funa K, Hartman M, Claesson-Welsh L, Heldin CH, Westermark B, Nistér M. Plateletderived growth factor and its receptors in human glioma tissue: expression of messenger RNA and protein suggests the presence of autocrine and paracrine loops. Cancer Res 52:3213-3219, 1992
- Hermanson M, Funa K, Koopmann J, Maintz D, Waha A, Westermark B, Heldin CH, Wiestler OD, Louis DN, von Deimling A, Nister M. Association of loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 17p with high platelet-derived growth factor alpha receptor expression in human malignant gliomas. Cancer Res 56:164-171, 1996
- Hermansson M, Nister M, Betsholtz C, Heldin CH, Westermark B, Funa K. Endothelial cell hyperplasia in human glioblastoma: coexpression of mRNA for platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) B chain and PDGF receptor suggests autocrine growth stimulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:7748-7752, 1988
- Herrmann H and Aebi U. Intermediate filaments and their associates: multitalented structural elements specifying cytoarchitecture and cytodynamics. Curr Opin Cell Biol 12:79-90, 2000

- Hinman MN and Lou H. Diverse molecular functions of Hu proteins. Cell Mol Life Sci 65:3168-3181, 2008
- Hirota S, Isozaki K, Moriyama Y, Hashimoto K, Nishida T, Ishiguro S, Kawano K, Hanada M, Kurata A, Takeda M, Muhammad Tunio G, Matsuzawa Y, Kanakura Y, Shinomura Y, Kitamura Y. Gain-offunction mutations of c-kit in human gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Science 279:577-580, 1998
- Holash J, Maisonpierre PC, Compton D, Boland P, Alexander CR, Zagzag D, Yancopoulos GD, Wiegand SJ.
  Vessel cooption, regression, and growth in tumors mediated by angiopoietins and VEGF. Science 284:1994-1998, 1999
- Holcik M, MacKenzie AE, LaCasse EC, Korneluk RB, editors. Apoptosis in health and disease: clinical and therapeutic aspects. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, 2005
- Holtkamp N, Ziegenhagen N, Malzer E, Hartmann C, Giese A, von Deimling A. Characterization of the amplicon on chromosomal segment 4q12 in glioblastoma multiforme. Neuro Oncol 9:291-297, 2007
- Hulsebos TJ, Oskam NT, Troost D, Leenstra S, Bijleveld EH. Dynamics of genetic alterations associated with glioma recurrence. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 23:153-158, 1998
- Hwang D, Scollard D, Byrne J, Levine E. Expression of cyclooxygenase-1 and cyclooxygenase-2 in human breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 90:455-460, 1998
- Iadecola C and Nedergaard M. Glial regulation of the cerebral microvasculature. Nat Neurosci 10:1369-1376, 2007
- Ichimura K, Schmidt EE, Goike HM, Collins VP. Human glioblastomas with no alterations of the CDKN2A
(p16INK4A, MTS1) and CDK4 genes have frequent mutations of the retinoblastoma gene. Oncogene 13:1065-1072, 1996

- Idbaih A, Carvalho Silva R, Criniere E, Marie Y, Carpentier C, Boisselier B, Taillibert S, Rousseau A, Mokhtari K, Ducray F, Thillet J, Sanson M, Hoang-Xuan K, Delattre JY. Genomic changes in progression of low-grade gliomas. J Neurooncol 90:133-140, 2008
- Ido K, Nakagawa T, Sakuma T, Takeuchi H, Sato K, Kubota T. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor-A and mRNA stability factor HuR in human astrocytic tumors. Neuropathology 28:604-611, 2008
- Ikota H, Kinjo S, Yokoo H, Nakazato Y. Systematic immunohistochemical profiling of 378 brain tumors with 37 antibodies using tissue microarray technology. Acta Neuropathol 111:475-482, 2006
- Ilmonen S, Vaheri A, Asko-Seljavaara S, Carpén O. Ezrin in primary cutaneous melanoma. Mod Pathol 18:503-510, 2005
- INTERPHONE Study Group. Brain tumour risk in relation to mobile telephone use: results of the INTERPHONE international casecontrol study. Int J Epidemiol 39:675-694, 2010
- Jager PL, Vaalburg W, Pruim J, de Vries EG, Langen KJ, Piers DA. Radiolabeled amino acids: basic aspects and clinical applications in oncology. J Nucl Med 42:432-445, 2001
- Jansen M, Yip S, Louis DN. Molecular pathology in adult gliomas: diagnostic, prognostic, and predictive markers. Lancet Neurol 9:717-726, 2010
- Järvelä S, Helin H, Haapasalo J, Järvelä T, Junttila TT, Elenius K, Tanner M, Haapasalo H, Isola J. Amplification of the epidermal growth factor receptor in astrocytic tumours by

chromogenic in situ hybridization: association with clinicopathological features and patient survival. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 32:441-450, 2006

- Jayaraman MV and Boxerman JL. Adult Brain Tumors. In: Atlas SW, editor. Magnetic resonance imaging of the brain and spine. 4th ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. Philalelphia, 2009, 445-590
- Jenkins RB, Blair H, Ballman KV, Giannini C, Arusell RM, Law M, Flynn H, Passe S, Felten S, Brown PD, Shaw EG, Buckner JC. A t(1;19)(q10;p10) mediates the combined deletions of 1p and 19q and predicts a better prognosis of patients with oligodendroglioma. Cancer Res 66:9852-9861, 2006
- Jenkinson MD, du Plessis DG, Smith TS, Joyce KA, Warnke PC, Walker C. Histological growth patterns and genotype in oligodendroglial tumours: correlation with MRI features. Brain 129:1884-1891, 2006
- Jenkinson MD, Du Plessis DG, Walker C, Smith TS. Advanced MRI in the management of adult gliomas Br J Neurosurg 21:550-561, 2007
- Jeuken JW, Sijben A, Bleeker FE, Boots-Sprenger SH, Rijntjes J, Gijtenbeek JM, Mueller W, Wesseling P. The Nature and Timing of Specific Copy Number Changes in the Course of Molecular Progression in Diffuse Gliomas: Further Elucidation of Their Genetic "Life Story". Brain Pathol 2010
- Jeuken JW, Sprenger SH, Boerman RH, von Deimling A, Teepen HL, van Overbeeke JJ, Wesseling P. Subtyping of oligo-astrocytic tumours by comparative genomic hybridization. J Pathol 194:81-87, 2001
- Jeuken JW, Sprenger SH, Vermeer H, Kappelle AC, Boerman RH, Wesseling P. Chromosomal imbalances in primary oligodendroglial tumors and

their recurrences: clues about malignant progression detected using comparative genomic hybridization. J Neurosurg 96:559-564, 2002

- Joensuu H, Puputti M, Sihto H, Tynninen O, Nupponen NN. Amplification of genes encoding KIT, PDGFRalpha and VEGFR2 receptor tyrosine kinases is frequent in glioblastoma multiforme. J Pathol 207:224-231, 2005
- Joki T, Heese O, Nikas DC, Bello L, Zhang J, Kraeft SK, Seyfried NT, Abe T, Chen LB, Carroll RS, Black PM. Expression of cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) in human glioma and in vitro inhibition by a specific COX-2 inhibitor, NS-398. Cancer Res 60:4926-4931, 2000
- Jordan CT, Guzman ML, Noble M. Cancer stem cells. N Engl J Med 355:1253-1261, 2006
- Jung TY, Jung S, Moon KS, Kim IY, Kang SS, Kim YH, Park CS, Lee KH. Changes of the O6methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase promoter methylation and MGMT protein expression after adjuvant treatment in glioblastoma. Oncol Rep 23:1269-1276, 2010
- Kallio M. The incidence, survival, and prognostic factors of patients with intracranial glioma and meningioma in Finland from 1953 to 1987. Thesis. Helsinki, 1993
- Kallioniemi A, Kallioniemi OP, Sudar D, Rutovitz D, Gray JW, Waldman F, Pinkel D. Comparative genomic hybridization for molecular cytogenetic analysis of solid tumors. Science 258:818-821, 1992
- Kaloshi G, Benouaich-Amiel A, Diakite F, Taillibert S, Lejeune J, Laigle-Donadey F, Renard MA, Iraqi W, Idbaih A, Paris S, Capelle L, Duffau H, Cornu P, Simon JM, Mokhtari K, Polivka M, Omuro A, Carpentier A, Sanson M, Delattre JY, Hoang-Xuan K. Temozolomide for low-

grade gliomas: predictive impact of 1p/19q loss on response and outcome. Neurology 68:1831-1836, 2007

- Kato Y, Jin G, Kuan CT, McLendon RE, Yan H, Bigner DD. A monoclonal antibody IMab-1 specifically recognizes IDH1R132H, the most common glioma-derived mutation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 390:547-551, 2009
- Kerr JF, Winterford CM, Harmon BV. Apoptosis. Its significance in cancer and cancer therapy. Cancer 73:2013-2026, 1994
- Khanna C, Wan X, Bose S, Cassaday R, Olomu O, Mendoza A, Yeung C, Gorlick R, Hewitt SM, Helman LJ. The membrane-cytoskeleton linker ezrin is necessary for osteosarcoma metastasis. Nat Med 10:182-186, 2004
- Kiernan JA. Barr's the Human Nervous System: An Anatomical Viewpoint. 7th ed. Lippincott-Raven. Philadelphia, 1998
- Kim JW, Park CK, Park SH, Kim YH, Han JH, Kim CY, Sohn CH, Chang KH, Jung HW. Relationship between radiological characteristics and combined 1p and 19q deletion in World Health Organization grade III oligodendroglial tumours. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 82:224-227, 2011
- Kitamura Y and Hirotab S. Kit as a human oncogenic tyrosine kinase. Cell Mol Life Sci 61:2924-2931, 2004
- Klasner BD, Krause BJ, Beer AJ, Drzezga A. PET imaging of gliomas using novel tracers: a sleeping beauty waiting to be kissed. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 10:609-613, 2010
- Kleihues P, Burger PC, Scheithauer BW, editors. Histological typing of tumours of the central nervous sys-

tem. World Health Organization International Histological Classification of Tumours. Springer-Verlag. Berlin, 1993

- Kleihues P and Cavenee WK, editors. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours. Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System. IARC Press. Lyon, 2000
- Kleihues P and Cavenee WK, editors. Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System. IARC Press. Lyon, 1997
- Knobbe CB, Merlo A, Reifenberger G. Pten signaling in gliomas. Neuro Oncol 4:196-211, 2002
- Koperek O, Gelpi E, Birner P, Haberler C, Budka H, Hainfellner JA. Value and limits of immunohistochemistry in differential diagnosis of clear cell primary brain tumors. Acta Neuropathol 108:24-30, 2004
- Korkolopoulou P, Patsouris E, Kavantzas N, Konstantinidou AE, Christodoulou P, Thomas-Tsagli E, Pananikolaou A, Eftychiadis C, Pavlopoulos PM, Angelidakis D, Rologis D, Davaris P. Prognostic implications of microvessel morphometry in diffuse astrocytic neoplasms. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 28:57-66, 2002
- Kouwenhoven MC, Gorlia T, Kros JM, Ibdaih A, Brandes AA, Bromberg JE, Mokhtari K, van Duinen SG, Teepen JL, Wesseling P, Vandenbos F, Grisold W, Sipos L, Mirimanoff R, Vecht CJ, Allgeier A, Lacombe D, van den Bent MJ. Molecular analysis of anaplastic oligodendroglial tumors in a prospective randomized study: A report from EORTC study 26951. Neuro Oncol 11:737-746, 2009
- Kriegstein A and Alvarez-Buylla A. The glial nature of embryonic and adult neural stem cells. Annu Rev Neurosci 32:149-184, 2009

- Kros JM. Grading of gliomas: the road from eminence to evidence. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 70:101-109, 2011
- Kros JM, Gorlia T, Kouwenhoven MC, Zheng PP, Collins VP, Figarella-Branger D, Giangaspero F, Giannini C, Mokhtari K, Mørk SJ, Paetau A, Reifenberger G, van den Bent MJ. Panel review of anaplastic oligodendroglioma from European Organization For Research and Treatment of Cancer Trial 26951: assessment of consensus in diagnosis, influence of 1p/19q loss, and correlations with outcome. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:545-551, 2007
- Kros JM, Hop WC, Godschalk JJ, Krishnadath KK. Prognostic value of the proliferation-related antigen Ki-67 in oligodendrogliomas. Cancer 78:1107-1113, 1996
- Krouwer HG, Davis RL, Silver P, Prados M. Gemistocytic astrocytomas: a reappraisal. J Neurosurg 74:399-406, 1991
- Kumar RA, Khandelwal N, Sodhi KS, Pathak A, Mittal BR, Radotra BD, Suri S. Comparison between contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging and technetium 99m glucohepatonic acid single photon emission computed tomography with histopathologic correlation in gliomas. J Comput Assist Tomogr 30:723-733, 2006
- Labussiere M, Idbaih A, Wang XW, Marie Y, Boisselier B, Falet C, Paris S, Laffaire J, Carpentier C, Criniere E, Ducray F, El Hallani S, Mokhtari K, Hoang-Xuan K, Delattre JY, Sanson M. All the 1p19q codeleted gliomas are mutated on IDH1 or IDH2. Neurology 74:1886-1890, 2010
- Laperriere N, Zuraw L, Cairncross G, Cancer Care Ontario Practice Guidelines Initiative Neuro-Oncology Disease Site Group. Ra-

diotherapy for newly diagnosed malignant glioma in adults: a systematic review. Radiother Oncol 64:259-273, 2002

- Larjavaara S, Mäntylä R, Salminen T, Haapasalo H, Raitanen J, Jääskeläinen J, Auvinen A. Incidence of gliomas by anatomic location. Neuro Oncol 9:319-325, 2007
- Lavon I, Zrihan D, Zelikovitch B, Fellig Y, Fuchs D, Soffer D, Siegal T. Longitudinal assessment of genetic and epigenetic markers in oligodendrogliomas. Clin Cancer Res 13:1429-1437, 2007
- Lendahl U, Zimmerman LB, McKay RD. CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. Cell 60:585-595, 1990
- Leon SP, Folkerth RD, Black PM. Microvessel density is a prognostic indicator for patients with astroglial brain tumors. Cancer 77:362-372, 1996
- Levy NS, Chung S, Furneaux H, Levy AP. Hypoxic stabilization of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA by the RNA-binding protein HuR. J Biol Chem 273:6417-6423, 1998
- Ligon KL, Alberta JA, Kho AT, Weiss J, Kwaan MR, Nutt CL, Louis DN, Stiles CD, Rowitch DH. The oligodendroglial lineage marker OLIG2 is universally expressed in diffuse gliomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 63:499-509, 2004
- Liu L, Backlund LM, Nilsson BR, Grander D, Ichimura K, Goike HM, Collins VP. Clinical significance of EGFR amplification and the aberrant EGFRvIII transcript in conventionally treated astrocytic gliomas. J Mol Med 83:917-926, 2005
- Lohela M, Bry M, Tammela T, Alitalo K. VEGFs and receptors involved in angiogenesis versus lymphangio-

genesis. Curr Opin Cell Biol 21:154-165, 2009

- Lokker NA, Sullivan CM, Hollenbach SJ, Israel MA, Giese NA. Plateletderived growth factor (PDGF) autocrine signaling regulates survival and mitogenic pathways in glioblastoma cells: evidence that the novel PDGF-C and PDGF-D ligands may play a role in the development of brain tumors. Cancer Res 62:3729-3735, 2002
- Lönn S, Klaeboe L, Hall P, Mathiesen T, Auvinen A, Christensen HC, Johansen C, Salminen T, Tynes T, Feychting M. Incidence trends of adult primary intracerebral tumors in four Nordic countries. Int J Cancer 108:450-455, 2004
- Lopez de Silanes I, Lal A, Gorospe M. HuR: post-transcriptional paths to malignancy. RNA Biol 2:11-13, 2005
- Louis DN. Molecular pathology of malignant gliomas. Annu Rev Pathol 1:97-117, 2006
- Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK, editors. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Central Nervous System. IARC. Lyon, 2007
- Louis DN, Reifenberger G, Brat DJ, Ellison DW. Tumours: introduction and neuroepithelial tumours. In: Love S, Louis DN and Ellison DW, editors. Greenfield's Neuropathology. 8th ed. Hodder Arnold. London, 2008, 1821-2000
- Maia AC,Jr, Malheiros SM, da Rocha AJ, da Silva CJ, Gabbai AA, Ferraz FA, Stavale JN. MR cerebral blood volume maps correlated with vascular endothelial growth factor expression and tumor grade in nonenhancing gliomas. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 26:777-783, 2005
- Majores M, Schick V, Engels G, Fassunke J, Elger CE, Schramm J, Blumcke I, Becker AJ. Mutational

and immunohistochemical analysis of ezrin-, radixin-, moesin (ERM) molecules in epilepsy-associated glioneuronal lesions. Acta Neuropathol 110:537-546, 2005

- Mäkitie T, Carpén O, Vaheri A, Kivelä T. Ezrin as a prognostic indicator and its relationship to tumor characteristics in uveal malignant melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42:2442-2449, 2001
- Martinho O, Longatto-Filho A, Lambros MB, Martins A, Pinheiro C, Silva A, Pardal F, Amorim J, Mackay A, Milanezi F, Tamber N, Fenwick K, Ashworth A, Reis-Filho JS, Lopes JM, Reis RM. Expression, mutation and copy number analysis of platelet-derived growth factor receptor A (PDGFRA) and its ligand PDGFA in gliomas. Br J Cancer 101:973-982, 2009
- Martin-Villalba A, Okuducu AF, von Deimling A. The evolution of our understanding on glioma. Brain Pathol 18:455-463, 2008
- Megyesi JF, Kachur E, Lee DH, Zlatescu MC, Betensky RA, Forsyth PA, Okada Y, Sasaki H, Mizoguchi M, Louis DN, Cairncross JG. Imaging correlates of molecular signatures in oligodendrogliomas. Clin Cancer Res 10:4303-4306, 2004
- Meng Y, Lu Z, Yu S, Zhang Q, Ma Y, Chen J. Ezrin promotes invasion and metastasis of pancreatic cancer cells. J Transl Med 8:61, 2010
- Menter DG, Schilsky RL, DuBois RN. Cyclooxygenase-2 and cancer treatment: understanding the risk should be worth the reward. Clin Cancer Res 16:1384-1390, 2010
- Miller CR, Dunham CP, Scheithauer BW, Perry A. Significance of necrosis in grading of oligodendroglial neoplasms: a clinicopathologic and genetic study of newly diagnosed high-grade gliomas. J Clin Oncol 24:5419-5426, 2006

- Minn H. PET and SPECT in low-grade glioma. Eur J Radiol 56:171-178, 2005
- Monier A, Evrard P, Gressens P, Verney C. Distribution and differentiation of microglia in the human encephalon during the first two trimesters of gestation. J Comp Neurol 499:565-582, 2006
- Montine TJ, Vandersteenhoven JJ, Aguzzi A, Boyko OB, Dodge RK, Kerns BJ, Burger PC. Prognostic significance of Ki-67 proliferation index in supratentorial fibrillary astrocytic neoplasms. Neurosurgery 34:674-8; discussion 678-9, 1994
- Mott RT, Turner KC, Bigner DD, McLendon RE. Utility of EGFR and PTEN numerical aberrations in the evaluation of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas. Laboratory investigation. J Neurosurg 108:330-335, 2008
- Mrena J, Wiksten JP, Thiel A, Kokkola A, Pohjola L, Lundin J, Nordling S, Ristimäki A, Haglund C. Cyclooxygenase-2 is an independent prognostic factor in gastric cancer and its expression is regulated by the messenger RNA stability factor HuR. Clin Cancer Res 11:7362-7368, 2005
- Muldoon LL, Soussain C, Jahnke K, Johanson C, Siegal T, Smith QR, Hall WA, Hynynen K, Senter PD, Peereboom DM, Neuwelt EA. Chemotherapy delivery issues in central nervous system malignancy: a reality check. J Clin Oncol 25:2295-2305, 2007
- Nabors LB, Gillespie GY, Harkins L, King PH. HuR, a RNA stability factor, is expressed in malignant brain tumors and binds to adenine- and uridine-rich elements within the 3' untranslated regions of cytokine and angiogenic factor mRNAs. Cancer Res 61:2154-2161, 2001
- Nakada M, Nakada S, Demuth T, Tran NL, Hoelzinger DB, Berens ME.

Molecular targets of glioma invasion. Cell Mol Life Sci 64:458-478, 2007

- Neuwelt EA. Mechanisms of disease: the blood-brain barrier Neurosurgery 54:131-40; discussion 141-2, 2004
- Noback CR, Strominger NL, Demarest RJ, Ruggiero DA, editors. The human nervous system: structure and function. 6th ed. Humana Press. Totowa, 2005
- Nobusawa S, Stawski R, Kim YH, Nakazato Y, Ohgaki H. Amplification of the PDGFRA, KIT and KDR genes in glioblastoma: a populationbased study. Neuropathology 2011
- Norden AD, Drappatz J, Wen PY. Antiangiogenic therapies for highgrade glioma. Nat Rev Neurol 5:610-620, 2009
- Nuutinen J, Sonninen P, Lehikoinen P, Sutinen E, Valavaara R, Eronen E, Norrgård S, Kulmala J, Teräs M, Minn H. Radiotherapy treatment planning and long-term follow-up with [11C]methionine PET in patients with low-grade astrocytoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 48:43-52, 2000
- Ogawa T, Shishido F, Kanno I, Inugami A, Fujita H, Murakami M, Shimosegawa E, Ito H, Hatazawa J, Okudera T. Cerebral glioma: evaluation with methionine PET. Radiology 186:45-53, 1993
- Oh D and Prayson RA. Evaluation of epithelial and keratin markers in glioblastoma multiforme: an immunohistochemical study. Arch Pathol Lab Med 123:917-920, 1999
- Ohgaki H, Dessen P, Jourde B, Horstmann S, Nishikawa T, Di Patre PL, Burkhard C, Schuler D, Probst-Hensch NM, Maiorka PC, Baeza N, Pisani P, Yonekawa Y, Yasargil MG, Lutolf UM, Kleihues P. Genetic pathways to glioblas-

toma: a population-based study. Cancer Res 64:6892-6899, 2004

- Ohgaki H and Kleihues P. Genetic pathways to primary and secondary glioblastoma. Am J Pathol 170:1445-1453, 2007
- Ohgaki H and Kleihues P. Epidemiology and etiology of gliomas. Acta Neuropathol 109:93-108, 2005a
- Ohgaki H and Kleihues P. Populationbased studies on incidence, survival rates, and genetic alterations in astrocytic and oligodendroglial gliomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 64:479-489, 2005b
- Okamoto Y, Di Patre PL, Burkhard C, Horstmann S, Jourde B, Fahey M, Schuler D, Probst-Hensch NM, Yasargil MG, Yonekawa Y, Lutolf UM, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Population-based study on incidence, survival rates, and genetic alterations of low-grade diffuse astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas. Acta Neuropathol 108:49-56, 2004
- Osawa H, Smith CA, Ra YS, Kongkham P, Rutka JT. The role of the membrane cytoskeleton crosslinker ezrin in medulloblastoma cells. Neuro Oncol 11:381-393, 2009
- Ozawa T, Brennan CW, Wang L, Squatrito M, Sasayama T, Nakada M, Huse JT, Pedraza A, Utsuki S, Yasui Y, Tandon A, Fomchenko EI, Oka H, Levine RL, Fujii K, Ladanyi M, Holland EC. PDGFRA gene rearrangements are frequent genetic events in PDGFRA-amplified glioblastomas. Genes Dev 24:2205-2218, 2010
- Padma MV, Said S, Jacobs M, Hwang DR, Dunigan K, Satter M, Christian B, Ruppert J, Bernstein T, Kraus G, Mantil JC. Prediction of pathology and survival by FDG PET in gliomas. J Neurooncol 64:227-237, 2003

- Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P. Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin 55:74-108, 2005
- Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, Mankoo P, Carter H, Siu IM, Gallia GL, Olivi A, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Keir S, Nikolskaya T, Nikolsky Y, Busam DA, Tekleab H, Diaz LA, Jr, Hartigan J, Smith DR, Strausberg RL, Marie SK, Shinjo SM, Yan H, Riggins GJ, Bigner DD, Karchin R, Papadopoulos N, Parmigiani G, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW. An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science 321:1807-1812, 2008
- Paulsson J, Lindh MB, Jarvius M, Puputti M, Nistér M, Nupponen NN, Paulus W, Söderberg O, Dresemann G, von Deimling A, Joensuu H, Östman A, Hasselblatt M. Prognostic but not predictive role of platelet-derived growth factor receptors in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. Int J Cancer 128:1981-1988, 2011
- Phillips HS, Kharbanda S, Chen R, Forrest WF, Soriano RH, Wu TD, Misra A, Nigro JM, Colman H, Soroceanu L, Williams PM, Modrusan Z, Feuerstein BG, Aldape K. Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. Cancer Cell 9:157-173, 2006
- Pinkel D, Segraves R, Sudar D, Clark S, Poole I, Kowbel D, Collins C, Kuo WL, Chen C, Zhai Y, Dairkee SH, Ljung BM, Gray JW, Albertson DG. High resolution analysis of DNA copy number variation using comparative genomic hybridization to microarrays. Nat Genet 20:207-211, 1998
- Plate KH, Breier G, Weich HA, Mennel HD, Risau W. Vascular endothelial

growth factor and glioma angiogenesis: coordinate induction of VEGF receptors, distribution of VEGF protein and possible in vivo regulatory mechanisms. Int J Cancer 59:520-529, 1994

- Plate KH, Breier G, Weich HA, Risau W. Vascular endothelial growth factor is a potential tumour angiogenesis factor in human gliomas in vivo. Nature 359:845-848, 1992
- Prestegarden L and Enger PØ. Cancer stem cells in the central nervous system--a critical review. Cancer Res 70:8255-8258, 2010
- Quon H, Hasbini A, Cougnard J, Djafari L, Lacroix C, Abdulkarim B. Assessment of tumor angiogenesis as a prognostic factor of survival in patients with oligodendroglioma. J Neurooncol 96:277-285, 2010
- Rao JS. Molecular mechanisms of glioma invasiveness: the role of proteases. Nat Rev Cancer 3:489-501, 2003
- Rao JS and Buckner JC. Chemotherapy for Central Nervous System Tumors. In: Black PM and Loeffler JS, editors. Cancer of the Nervous System. 2nd ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. Philadelphia, 2004, 193-208
- Raymond E, Brandes AA, Dittrich C, Fumoleau P, Coudert B, Clement PM, Frenay M, Rampling R, Stupp R, Kros JM, Heinrich MC, Gorlia T, Lacombe D, van den Bent MJ, European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Brain Tumor Group Study. Phase II study of imatinib in patients with recurrent gliomas of various histologies: a European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Brain Tumor Group Study. J Clin Oncol 26:4659-4665, 2008
- Reiche W, Grunwald I, Hermann K, Deinzer M, Reith W. Oligodendrogliomas. A comparison of CT and MR imaging features with histologi-

cal malignancy grading in 20 cases. Acta Radiol 43:474-482, 2002

- Reifenberger J, Reifenberger G, Ichimura K, Schmidt EE, Wechsler W, Collins VP. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression in oligodendroglial tumors. Am J Pathol 149:29-35, 1996
- Reifenberger J, Reifenberger G, Liu L, James CD, Wechsler W, Collins VP. Molecular genetic analysis of oligodendroglial tumors shows preferential allelic deletions on 19q and 1p. Am J Pathol 145:1175-1190, 1994
- Ren ZP, Olofsson T, Qu M, Hesselager G, Soussi T, Kalimo H, Smits A, Nistér M. Molecular genetic analysis of p53 intratumoral heterogeneity in human astrocytic brain tumors. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:944-954, 2007
- Ricci-Vitiani L, Pallini R, Biffoni M, Todaro M, Invernici G, Cenci T, Maira G, Parati EA, Stassi G, Larocca LM, De Maria R. Tumour vascularization via endothelial differentiation of glioblastoma stemlike cells. Nature 468:824-828, 2010
- Riemann B, Papke K, Hoess N, Kuwert T, Weckesser M, Matheja P, Wassmann H, Heindel W, Schober O. Noninvasive grading of untreated gliomas: a comparative study of MR imaging and 3-(iodine 123)-L-alphamethyltyrosine SPECT. Radiology 225:567-574, 2002
- Riemenschneider MJ, Jeuken JW, Wesseling P, Reifenberger G. Molecular diagnostics of gliomas: state of the art. Acta Neuropathol 120:567-584, 2010
- Ristimäki A, Honkanen N, Jänkälä H, Sipponen P, Härkönen M. Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in human gastric carcinoma. Cancer Res 57:1276-1280, 1997

- Rivera AL, Pelloski CE, Gilbert MR, Colman H, De La Cruz C, Sulman EP, Bekele BN, Aldape KD. MGMT promoter methylation is predictive of response to radiotherapy and prognostic in the absence of adjuvant alkylating chemotherapy for glioblastoma. Neuro Oncol 12:116-121, 2010
- Rodriguez FJ, Perry A, Gutmann DH, O'Neill BP, Leonard J, Bryant S, Giannini C. Gliomas in neurofibromatosis type 1: a clinicopathologic study of 100 patients. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 67:240-249, 2008
- Roy NS, Wang S, Harrison-Restelli C, Benraiss A, Fraser RA, Gravel M, Braun PE, Goldman SA. Identification, isolation, and promoterdefined separation of mitotic oligodendrocyte progenitor cells from the adult human subcortical white matter. J Neurosci 19:9986-9995, 1999
- Sallinen PK, Haapasalo HK, Visakorpi T, Helén PT, Rantala IS, Isola JJ, Helin HJ. Prognostication of astrocytoma patient survival by Ki-67 (MIB-1), PCNA, and S-phase fraction using archival paraffinembedded samples. J Pathol 174:275-282, 1994
- Sallinen PK, Sallinen SL, Helen PT, Rantala IS, Rautiainen E, Helin HJ, Kalimo H, Haapasalo HK. Grading of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas by quantitative histopathology, cell proliferation and image cytometric DNA analysis. Comparison of 133 tumours in the context of the WHO 1979 and WHO 1993 grading schemes. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 26:319-331, 2000
- Sanai N, Alvarez-Buylla A, Berger MS. Neural stem cells and the origin of gliomas. N Engl J Med 353:811-822, 2005

- Sanai N and Berger MS. Glioma extent of resection and its impact on patient outcome. Neurosurgery 62:753-764, 2008
- Sanai N, Tramontin AD, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Barbaro NM, Gupta N, Kunwar S, Lawton MT, McDermott MW, Parsa AT, Manuel-Garcia Verdugo J, Berger MS, Alvarez-Buylla A. Unique astrocyte ribbon in adult human brain contains neural stem cells but lacks chain migration. Nature 427:740-744, 2004
- Sanson M, Marie Y, Paris S, Idbaih A, Laffaire J, Ducray F, El Hallani S, Boisselier B, Mokhtari K, Hoang-Xuan K, Delattre JY. Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 codon 132 mutation is an important prognostic biomarker in gliomas J Clin Oncol 27:4150-4154, 2009
- Scheie D, Cvancarova M, Mørk S, Skullerud K, Andresen PA, Benestad I, Helseth E, Meling T, Beiske K. Can morphology predict 1p/19q loss in oligodendroglial tumours? Histopathology 53:578-587, 2008
- Scherer HJ. Structural development in gliomas. Am J Cancer 34:333-351, 1938
- Schiffer D, Cavalla P, Migheli A, Chio A, Giordana MT, Marino S, Attanasio A. Apoptosis and cell proliferation in human neuroepithelial tumors. Neurosci Lett 195:81-84, 1995
- Schmidt NO, Westphal M, Hagel C, Ergun S, Stavrou D, Rosen EM, Lamszus K. Levels of vascular endothelial growth factor, hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor and basic fibroblast growth factor in human gliomas and their relation to angiogenesis. Int J Cancer 84:10-18, 1999
- Scott JN, Brasher PM, Sevick RJ, Rewcastle NB, Forsyth PA. How often are nonenhancing supratentorial

gliomas malignant? A population study. Neurology 59:947-949, 2002

- Seifert G, Schilling K, Steinhauser C. Astrocyte dysfunction in neurological disorders: a molecular perspective. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:194-206, 2006
- Semenza GL. Defining the role of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in cancer biology and therapeutics. Oncogene 29:625-634, 2010
- Sengupta S, Jang BC, Wu MT, Paik JH, Furneaux H, Hla T. The RNAbinding protein HuR regulates the expression of cyclooxygenase-2. J Biol Chem 278:25227-25233, 2003
- Shaw EG, Daumas-Duport C,
  Scheithauer BW, Gilbertson DT,
  O'Fallon JR, Earle JD, Laws ER,Jr,
  Okazaki H. Radiation therapy in the
  management of low-grade supratentorial astrocytomas. J Neurosurg 70:853-861, 1989
- Shih AH and Holland EC. Plateletderived growth factor (PDGF) and glial tumorigenesis. Cancer Lett 232:139-147, 2006
- Shono T, Tofilon PJ, Bruner JM, Owolabi O, Lang FF. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human gliomas: prognostic significance and molecular correlations. Cancer Res 61:4375-4381, 2001
- Sihto H, Sarlomo-Rikala M, Tynninen O, Tanner M, Andersson LC, Franssila K, Nupponen NN, Joensuu H. KIT and platelet-derived growth factor receptor alpha tyrosine kinase gene mutations and KIT amplifications in human solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 23:49-57, 2005
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, Henkelman RM, Cusimano MD, Dirks PB. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 432:396-401, 2004

- Smith JS, Perry A, Borell TJ, Lee HK, O'Fallon J, Hosek SM, Kimmel D, Yates A, Burger PC, Scheithauer BW, Jenkins RB. Alterations of chromosome arms 1p and 19q as predictors of survival in oligodendrogliomas, astrocytomas, and mixed oligoastrocytomas. J Clin Oncol 18:636-645, 2000
- Smith JS, Tachibana I, Passe SM, Huntley BK, Borell TJ, Iturria N, O'Fallon JR, Schaefer PL, Scheithauer BW, James CD, Buckner JC, Jenkins RB. PTEN mutation, EGFR amplification, and outcome in patients with anaplastic astrocytoma and glioblastoma multiforme. J Natl Cancer Inst 93:1246-1256, 2001
- Smith JS, Wang XY, Qian J, Hosek SM, Scheithauer BW, Jenkins RB, James CD. Amplification of the plateletderived growth factor receptor-A (PDGFRA) gene occurs in oligodendrogliomas with grade IV anaplastic features. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 59:495-503, 2000
- Snuderl M, Chi SN, De Santis SM, Stemmer-Rachamimov AO, Betensky RA, De Girolami U, Kieran MW. Prognostic value of tumor microinvasion and metalloproteinases expression in intracranial pediatric ependymomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 67:911-920, 2008
- Soffietti R, Baumert BG, Bello L, von Deimling A, Duffau H, Frenay M, Grisold W, Grant R, Graus F, Hoang-Xuan K, Klein M, Melin B, Rees J, Siegal T, Smits A, Stupp R, Wick W, European Federation of Neurological Societies. Guidelines on management of low-grade gliomas: report of an EFNS-EANO\* Task Force. Eur J Neurol 17:1124-1133, 2010
- Sofroniew MV and Vinters HV. Astrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol 119:7-35, 2010

- Somjen GG. Nervenkitt: notes on the history of the concept of neuroglia. Glia 1:2-9, 1988
- Squire LR, Berg D, Bloom F, du Lac S, Ghosh A, Spitzer N, editors. Fundamental Neuroscience. 3rd ed. Academic Press. Amsterdam, 2008
- Stadlbauer A, Pölking E, Prante O, Nimsky C, Buchfelder M, Kuwert T, Linke R, Doelken M, Ganslandt O. Detection of tumour invasion into the pyramidal tract in glioma patients with sensorimotor deficits by correlation of (18)F-fluoroethyl-L: -tyrosine PET and magnetic resonance diffusion tensor imaging. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 151:1061-1069, 2009
- Steiner HH, Karcher S, Mueller MM, Nalbantis E, Kunze S, Herold-Mende C. Autocrine pathways of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in glioblastoma multiforme: clinical relevance of radiation-induced increase of VEGF levels. J Neurooncol 66:129-138, 2004
- Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Taphoorn MJ, Janzer RC, Ludwin SK, Allgeier A, Fisher B, Belanger K, Hau P, Brandes AA, Gijtenbeek J, Marosi C, Vecht CJ, Mokhtari K, Wesseling P, Villa S, Eisenhauer E, Gorlia T, Weller M, Lacombe D, Cairncross JG, Mirimanoff RO, on behalf of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Brain Tumour and Radiation Oncology Groups and the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. Lancet Oncol 10:459-466, 2009

- Stupp R, Tonn JC, Brada M, Pentheroudakis G, ESMO Guidelines Working Group. High-grade malignant glioma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 21 Suppl 5:v190-v193, 2010
- Surma-aho O, Niemelä M, Vilkki J, Kouri M, Brander A, Salonen O, Paetau A, Kallio M, Pyykkönen J, Jääskeläinen J. Adverse long-term effects of brain radiotherapy in adult low-grade glioma patients. Neurology 56:1285-1290, 2001
- Tabatabai G, Stupp R, van den Bent MJ, Hegi ME, Tonn JC, Wick W, Weller M. Molecular diagnostics of gliomas: the clinical perspective. Acta Neuropathol 120:585-592, 2010
- Thun MJ, Henley SJ, Patrono C. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs as anticancer agents: mechanistic, pharmacologic, and clinical issues. J Natl Cancer Inst 94:252-266, 2002
- Tian Q, Frierson HF,Jr, Krystal GW, Moskaluk CA. Activating c-kit gene mutations in human germ cell tumors. Am J Pathol 154:1643-1647, 1999
- Toedt G, Barbus S, Wolter M, Felsberg J, Tews B, Blond F, Sabel MC, Hofmann S, Becker N, Hartmann C, Ohgaki H, von Deimling A, Wiestler OD, Hahn M, Lichter P, Reifenberger G, Radlwimmer B. Molecular signatures classify astrocytic gliomas by IDH1 mutation status. Int J Cancer 128:1095-1103, 2010
- Tsitlakidis A, Foroglou N, Venetis CA, Patsalas I, Hatzisotiriou A, Selviaridis P. Biopsy versus resection in the management of malignant gliomas: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Neurosurg 112:1020-1032, 2010
- Tsukita S and Yonemura S. ERM (ezrin/radixin/moesin) family: from

cytoskeleton to signal transduction. Curr Opin Cell Biol 9:70-75, 1997

- Vaheri A, Carpén O, Heiska L, Helander TS, Jääskeläinen J, Majander-Nordenswan P, Sainio M, Timonen T, Turunen O. The ezrin protein family: membrane-cytoskeleton interactions and disease associations. Curr Opin Cell Biol 9:659-666, 1997
- van den Bent MJ, Afra D, de Witte O, Ben Hassel M, Schraub S, Hoang-Xuan K, Malmstrom PO, Collette L, Pierart M, Mirimanoff R, Karim AB, EORTC Radiotherapy and Brain Tumor Groups and the UK Medical Research Council. Longterm efficacy of early versus delayed radiotherapy for low-grade astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma in adults: the EORTC 22845 randomised trial. Lancet 366:985-990, 2005
- van den Bent MJ, Carpentier AF, Brandes AA, Sanson M, Taphoorn MJ, Bernsen HJ, Frenay M, Tijssen CC, Grisold W, Sipos L, Haaxma-Reiche H, Kros JM, van Kouwenhoven MC, Vecht CJ, Allgeier A, Lacombe D, Gorlia T. Adjuvant procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine improves progression-free survival but not overall survival in newly diagnosed anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas: a randomized European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 24:2715-2722, 2006
- van den Bent MJ, Dubbink HJ, Marie Y, Brandes AA, Taphoorn MJ, Wesseling P, Frenay M, Tijssen CC, Lacombe D, Idbaih A, van Marion R, Kros JM, Dinjens WN, Gorlia T, Sanson M. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are prognostic but not predictive for outcome in anaplastic oligodendroglial tumors: a report of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer

Brain Tumor Group. Clin Cancer Res 16:1597-1604, 2010

- van den Bent MJ, Dubbink HJ, Sanson M, van der Lee-Haarloo CR, Hegi M, Jeuken JW, Ibdaih A, Brandes AA, Taphoorn MJ, Frenay M, Lacombe D, Gorlia T, Dinjens WN, Kros JM. MGMT promoter methylation is prognostic but not predictive for outcome to adjuvant PCV chemotherapy in anaplastic oligodendroglial tumors: a report from EORTC Brain Tumor Group Study 26951. J Clin Oncol 27:5881-5886, 2009
- Verhaak RGW, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, Miller CR, Ding L, Golub T, Mesirov JP. Integrated Genomic Analysis Identifies Clinically Relevant Subtypes of Glioblastoma Characterized by Abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. Cancer Cell 17:98-110, 2010
- Vinters HV and Kleinschmidt-DeMasters BK. General pathology of the central nervous system. In: Love S, Louis DN and Ellison DW, editors. Greenfield's Neuropathology. 8th ed. Hodder Arnold. London, 2008, 1-62
- Virchow R. Gesammelte Abhandlungen zur wissenschaftlichen Medizin. Hamm. Frankfurt a.M., 1856
- Vlieger EJ, Majoie CB, Leenstra S, Den Heeten GJ. Functional magnetic resonance imaging for neurosurgical planning in neurooncology. Eur Radiol 14:1143-1153, 2004
- von Deimling A, Korshunov A, Hartmann C. The next generation of glioma biomarkers: MGMT methylation, BRAF fusions and IDH1 mutations. Brain Pathol 21:74-87, 2011
- von Deimling A, Louis DN, von Ammon K, Petersen I, Wiestler OD, Seizinger BR. Evidence for a tumor suppressor gene on chromosome

19q associated with human astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas, and mixed gliomas. Cancer Res 52:4277-4279, 1992

- Vuorinen V, Hinkka S, Färkkilä M, Jääskeläinen J. Debulking or biopsy of malignant glioma in elderly people - a randomised study. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 145:5-10, 2003
- Wakimoto H, Aoyagi M, Nakayama T, Nagashima G, Yamamoto S, Tamaki M, Hirakawa K. Prognostic significance of Ki-67 labeling indices obtained using MIB-1 monoclonal antibody in patients with supratentorial astrocytomas. Cancer 77:373-380, 1996
- Walker MD, Alexander E,Jr, Hunt WE, MacCarty CS, Mahaley MS,Jr, Mealey J,Jr, Norrell HA, Owens G, Ransohoff J, Wilson CB, Gehan EA, Strike TA. Evaluation of BCNU and/or radiotherapy in the treatment of anaplastic gliomas. A cooperative clinical trial. J Neurosurg 49:333-343, 1978
- Wang D and Dubois RN. Eicosanoids and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 10:181-193, 2010a
- Wang D and Dubois RN. The role of COX-2 in intestinal inflammation and colorectal cancer. Oncogene 29:781-788, 2010b
- Wang R, Chadalavada K, Wilshire J, Kowalik U, Hovinga KE, Geber A, Fligelman B, Leversha M, Brennan C, Tabar V. Glioblastoma stem-like cells give rise to tumour endothelium. Nature 468:829-833, 2010
- Watanabe K, Sato K, Biernat W, Tachibana O, von Ammon K, Ogata N, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Incidence and timing of p53 mutations during astrocytoma progression in patients with multiple biopsies. Clin Cancer Res 3:523-530, 1997

- Watanabe T, Nakamura M, Kros JM, Burkhard C, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Phenotype versus genotype correlation in oligodendrogliomas and low-grade diffuse astrocytomas. Acta Neuropathol 103:267-275, 2002
- Watanabe T, Nobusawa S, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. IDH1 mutations are early events in the development of astrocytomas and oligodendrogliomas. Am J Pathol 174:1149-1153, 2009
- Weidner N, Folkman J, Pozza F, Bevilacqua P, Allred EN, Moore DH, Meli S, Gasparini G. Tumor angiogenesis: a new significant and independent prognostic indicator in early-stage breast carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 84:1875-1887, 1992
- Weller M, Berger H, Hartmann C, Schramm J, Westphal M, Simon M, Goldbrunner R, Krex D, Steinbach JP, Ostertag CB, Loeffler M, Pietsch T, von Deimling A, German Glioma Network. Combined 1p/19q loss in oligodendroglial tumors: predictive or prognostic biomarker? Clin Cancer Res 13:6933-6937, 2007
- Weller M, Felsberg J, Hartmann C, Berger H, Steinbach JP, Schramm J, Westphal M, Schackert G, Simon M, Tonn JC, Heese O, Krex D, Nikkhah G, Pietsch T, Wiestler O, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Loeffler M. Molecular predictors of progression-free and overall survival in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma: a prospective translational study of the German Glioma Network. J Clin Oncol 27:5743-5750, 2009
- Wen PY and Kesari S. Malignant gliomas in adults. N Engl J Med 359:492-507, 2008
- Wesseling P, Schlingemann RO, Rietveld FJ, Link M, Burger PC, Ruiter DJ. Early and extensive contribu-

tion of pericytes/vascular smooth muscle cells to microvascular proliferation in glioblastoma multiforme: an immuno-light and immunoelectron microscopic study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 54:304-310, 1995

- Wesseling P, van der Laak JA, Link M, Teepen HL, Ruiter DJ. Quantitative analysis of microvascular changes in diffuse astrocytic neoplasms with increasing grade of malignancy. Hum Pathol 29:352-358, 1998
- Wharton SB, Chan KK, Hamilton FA, Anderson JR. Expression of neuronal markers in oligodendrogliomas: an immunohistochemical study. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 24:302-308, 1998
- Wharton SB, Chan KK, Whittle IR. Microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP-2) is expressed in low and high grade diffuse astrocytomas. J Clin Neurosci 9:165-169, 2002
- Wick W, Grimmel C, Wild-Bode C, Platten M, Arpin M, Weller M. Ezrin-dependent promotion of glioma cell clonogenicity, motility, and invasion mediated by BCL-2 and transforming growth factor-beta2. J Neurosci 21:3360-3368, 2001
- Wick W, Hartmann C, Engel C, Stoffels M, Felsberg J, Stockhammer F, Sabel MC, Koeppen S, Ketter R, Meyermann R, Rapp M, Meisner C, Kortmann RD, Pietsch T, Wiestler OD, Ernemann U, Bamberg M, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Weller M. NOA-04 randomized phase III trial of sequential radiochemotherapy of anaplastic glioma with procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine or temozolomide. J Clin Oncol 27:5874-5880, 2009
- Williams SC, Karajannis MA, Chiriboga L, Golfinos JG, von Deimling A, Zagzag D. R132H-mutation of isocitrate dehydrogenase-1 is not sufficient for HIF-1alpha upregulation in

adult glioma. Acta Neuropathol 121:279-281, 2011

- Yadirgi G and Marino S. Adult neural stem cells and their role in brain pathology. J Pathol 217:242-253, 2009
- Yarden Y and Sliwkowski MX. Untangling the ErbB signalling network. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2:127-137, 2001
- Yasojima K, Schwab C, McGeer EG, McGeer PL. Distribution of cyclooxygenase-1 and cyclooxygenase-2 mRNAs and proteins in human brain and peripheral organs. Brain Res 830:226-236, 1999
- Yip S, Iafrate AJ, Louis DN. Molecular diagnostic testing in malignant gliomas: a practical update on predictive markers. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 67:1-15, 2008
- Yokoo H, Nobusawa S, Takebayashi H, Ikenaka K, Isoda K, Kamiya M, Sasaki A, Hirato J, Nakazato Y. Antihuman Olig2 antibody as a useful immunohistochemical marker of normal oligodendrocytes and gliomas. Am J Pathol 164:1717-1725, 2004
- Young LE, Sanduja S, Bemis-Standoli K, Pena EA, Price RL, Dixon DA.

The mRNA binding proteins HuR and tristetraprolin regulate cyclooxygenase 2 expression during colon carcinogenesis. Gastroenterology 136:1669-1679, 2009

- Zhao S, Lin Y, Xu W, Jiang W, Zha Z, Wang P, Yu W, Li Z, Gong L, Peng Y, Ding J, Lei Q, Guan KL, Xiong Y. Glioma-derived mutations in IDH1 dominantly inhibit IDH1 catalytic activity and induce HIF-1alpha. Science 324:261-265, 2009
- Zimmerman RA and Bilaniuk LT. Pediatric Brain Tumors. In: Atlas SW, editor. Magnetic resonance imaging of the brain and spine. 4th ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. Philalelphia, 2009, 591-643
- Zlatescu MC, TehraniYazdi A, Sasaki H, Megyesi JF, Betensky RA, Louis DN, Cairncross JG. Tumor location and growth pattern correlate with genetic signature in oligodendroglial neoplasms. Cancer Res 61:6713-6715, 2001
- Zülch KJ, editor. Histological typing of tumours of the central nervous system. International Histological Classification of Tumours. World Health Organization. Geneva, 1979